NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

COUNCIL
Monday, 3 June 2019
YOU ARE SUMMONED TO ATTEND A MEETING OF NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH
COUNCIL, WHICH WILL BE HELD AT THE GUILDHALL NORTHAMPTON ON
MONDAY, 3 JUNE 2019 AT 6:30 PM WHEN THE FOLLOWING BUSINESS IS
PROPOSED TO BE TRANSACTED
1.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2.

MINUTES.
To approve the minutes of the proceedings of the Meeting of the Council held on 11th
March and 16th May 2019.

3.

APOLOGIES.

4.

MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS.

5.

PUBLIC COMMENTS AND PETITIONS

6.

MEMBER AND PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

7.

CABINET MEMBER PRESENTATIONS

8.

OPPOSITION GROUP BUSINESS
Councillor Beardsworth to make a statement on “Tackling climate change, playing our
part”

9.

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW OF THE BOROUGH - POTENTIAL
OPTIONS FOR CONSULTATION AND FURTHER ACTIONS

(Copy herewith)
10.

NOTICES OF MOTION
i) Councillor Hibbert to propose and Councillor King to second:
At the moment, most private renters are on short term contracts of six months or a year,
and can be required to leave once that term has ended without the landlord having to give
any other reason. These no-fault evictions, introduced under Section 21 of the 1988
Housing Act, significantly add to homelessness issues in England, leave tenants wary
of asking for repairs, and means renters – including 1 in 4 families – never really know
where home will be in a year’s time.
This Council calls upon the Government to amend Section 21 and/or introduce minimum
tenancies of 2 years to provide greater security for tenants.
ii) Councillor Beardsworth to propose and Councillor B Markham to second:
This council recognises the strength of public opinion recently expressed in London and
Northampton to address the issue of climate change and the need to address carbon
reduction to protect the health and wellbeing of future generations. The council also notes
that the UK parliament has declared a Climate Emergency.
The Council therefore declares “a Climate Emergency” in Northampton and commits to a
target of making Northampton carbon neutral by 2030.
The Council Requests a report to be submitted to the council in 12 months’ time and
updated in January 2021 setting out the action that has been taken in respect to this motion
and detailing how progressing this objective has been communicated to and integrated
within the start up plans of the West Northamptonshire Unitary Council.
iii) Councillor Joyce to propose and Councillor Nunn to second:
All parties within this council acknowledge the urgency of dealing with climate change. We
need cross party agreement to develop strategies for a greener, more sustainable society in
Northampton. A green revolution is required.
Working with partners we will seek to implement the following actions, which we strongly
believe will benefit Northampton in leading an eco-friendly Britain:


A ban on single-use plastics within school environments. Schools across
Northampton produce a huge amount of plastic waste each week



Northampton schools would benefit from educating their students on eco issues
through school schemes, where programs could be set up in order to teach students
how to stay green in lessons, such as Personal, Social, Health and Economic
education or by holding educational assemblies with influential speakers.



To help further reduce the damaging effects of plastic littering, the council should
support and work closely with schemes operated by companies like TerraCycle who
turn many unrecyclable plastics (such as crisp packets and wrappers) into outdoor
furniture.



To explore with Local businesses and partners options for an eco-rewards scheme
that would allow individuals and groups to gain something back from recycling.



Northampton Borough Council to commit to reducing carbon emissions, both as an
organisation and as the local planning authority and resolve to go further than the
UK100 Agreement. To act in line with the scientific consensus that we must reduce
emissions to net-zero carbon by 2030, thus use the planning process to encourage
developers to consider low carbon developments.

Joining many councils who have already done the same, NBC declares “a Climate
Emergency” in Northampton and commits to a target, in line with the above actions, of
making Northampton carbon neutral by 2030.
The Council requests a production of a baseline report to be submitted to the council in the
beginning of 2020 setting out the action that has been taken in respect to this motion. This
Council also resolves to work with other local authorities ahead of Unitary to use the
baseline report as the basis on which to develop an action plan which could be adopted by
the new Council.
iv) Councillor Roberts to propose and Councillor T Eales to second:
Northamptonshire currently has 15,220 children receiving free school meals. For many of
these children this is the only hot/substantial meal they receive.
During school holidays there is a loss of free school meals given out during term time, in
addition to the extra childcare costs around the holidays, families already struggling with
low budgets find it difficult to feed their children. This has the most impact over the longer
summer holiday. Those children most at risk of hunger during the holidays may also suffer
from social isolation, loneliness, and inactivity. These factors combined can lead to
significant weight loss or gain, and negative impacts on physical and mental well-being.
In 2018 there were a number of campaigns run by charities such as Food cycle and End
Hunger UK. There was a £2m fund for children’s food from government, to help prevent
Holiday Hunger.
We call on this council to work with Partners to establish Holiday clubs where children can
receive social activities as well as food that will provide financial relief for parents on very
low incomes, so that no child should go hungry over the school holiday.
v) Councillor Eales to propose and Councillor Stone to second:
Council welcomes the formation of a Town Centre Masterplan. A bid for funding from the
governments Future High Streets Fund can only be a positive thing for Northampton,
especially if we are successful. However, it must be noted that until it no longer exists or is
replaced, Northampton Borough Council is the current authority with responsibility for the
Town Centre and regeneration. Yet this fundamental role is being circumvented during the
Town Centre Masterplan process. The formation of 'Northampton Forward' has been
undertaken without a mandate from Full Council or indeed the cabinet. This entity is
answerable to no-one - as such there is a democratic deficit and no accountability. The
board of 'Northampton Forward' is scheduled to be the sole decision maker on any final bid
that goes forward and the body that considers any public feedback.

There is of course a role for stakeholders and partners, but it is imperative that
Northampton Borough Council and elected members play a role in what should be a
positive process, as is our elected responsibilities. The Town Centre Masterplan and the
grouping that drives it must operate with openness and not on the basis of cronyism. This
town has suffered enough of that. To ensure the best outcomes, the following is agreed:
1)
Full Council shall nominate Councillors from each political grouping to sit on the
Northampton Forward board. The numbers should be; Conservative 3, Labour 2 and Lib
Dem 1. These Councillors should play active roles as board members in considering the
feedback from the public and shaping any final plan that is submitted for consideration,
working in parity with the rest of the board. The nominees from each political group should
be established within 48 hours after this meeting and provided to the Chief Executive, who
can
then
advise
Northampton
Forward.
2) Full Council should formally vote on any final Town Centre plans that are to be part
of any bid. This plan can be pre-agreed by the Northampton Forward board ‘in principle’
and
then
brought
to
Full
Council
for
rubber-stamping.
With cross party involvement on this issue and on the Northampton Forward board, it will
ensure ‘buy in’ from all political groups and everyone positively focused on the best
outcome for the town, whilst still respecting the role and democracy of Northampton
Borough Council.

vi) Councillor Beardsworth to propose and Councillor Meredith to second:
This council believes that its best decisions are informed by public consultation.
The council passed the 2019/20 budget in February 2019 but one major saving relating to
Car Parking Income has yet to be implemented and this is likely to result in a shortfall in
income in the current year.
Whilst consultation was undertaken as part of the budget process this did not include
consultation on the specific Car Parking increases.
To ensure that future budgets are implemented as planned, the Council asks Scrutiny to
review the 2019/20 consultation process and recommend improvements to ensure that
planned changes can be implemented in an effective way.
vii) Councillor B Markham to propose and Councillor Beardsworth to second:
The council is currently consulting on Part 2 of the Local Plan with the view of submitting
the draft for public inspection in 2020.
The draft plan has introduced a more detailed categorisation of open space which
differentiates between Parks and Gardens and Amenity Green Space.
Many well-known parks have been categorised as Amenity Green Spaces (AGS) which is
defined as Informal recreation and green spaces in and around housing, with a primary
purpose of providing opportunities for informal activities close to home or work.

The council is concerned that the public would not recognise their local park as complying
with this definition and requests that consideration is given to all open spaces, with play
equipment supplied and maintained by this council, be classified as Parks and Gardens and
not as Amenity Green Spaces.
11.

MATTERS OF URGENCY WHICH BY REASON OF SPECIAL
CIRCUMSTANCES THE MAYOR IS OF THE OPINION SHOULD BE
CONSIDERED.
(a) Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Capital Programme Budget

George Candler – Chief Executive
The Guildhall
Northampton
Public Participation
1. Comments and Petitions
1.1 A member of the public (or an accredited representative of a business ratepayer of the
Borough) may make a comment or present a petition on any matter in relation to which the
Council has powers. A comment or presentation of a petition shall be for no more than three
minutes. No notice of the nature of the comment to be made or of the petition is required
except for the need to register to speak by 12 noon on the day of the meeting.
(Public comments and petitions will not be taken and the Annual Council Meeting or other civic or
ceremonial meetings.)
NOTES
i.
Comments may be on one or more subjects but each person has no longer than three
minutes to have their say.
ii.
The same person may make a comment and present a petition on different subjects.
In such instances that person will have three minutes to make their comment and a separate three
minutes to present a petition.
2. Member and Public Questions
2.1 A member of the public (or business ratepayer of the Borough) may ask a maximum of two
written questions at each meeting, each limited to a maximum of 50 words, on any matter in
relation to which the Council has powers. Each question shall:
 be submitted in writing and delivered, faxed or e-mailed to Democratic Services
no later than 10.00am seven calendar days before the day of the meeting; and
 include the name and address of the questioner and the name of the Cabinet
member/Committee Chair to whom the question is put.
2.2 At the meeting, copies of all questions and the responses to them from the public and
Members will be made available to the public and press. The Mayor may allow one
supplementary question, without notice, that arises directly from the original question or
response.

(Questions will not be taken at the Annual Council Meeting or at civic or ceremonial meetings or
meetings called to deal with specific items of business.)
NOTES
In respect of paragraph 2.1 above, questions may be rejected on certain grounds that are set out on
page 4-12 of the Council’s Constitution and which may be viewed at
www.northampton.gov.uk/site/scripts/download_info.php?fileID=1919 or by seeking advice using
the contact details below.
3. Motions
3.1 A member of the public may register to speak to a motion under the ‘Notices of Motion’
item on the agenda. Registration to speak must be made to Democratic Services by 12 noon
on the day to the meeting. Speaking to a motion is restricted to three minutes per person.
(The ‘Notices of Motion’ item will not be taken at the Annual Council meeting or meetings called
for civic or ceremonial purposes.)
4. General
A member of the public may make a comment, present a petition, ask a question or speak to a
motion at the same meeting subject to the restrictions set out above.
5. Contacts
Democratic Services: e-mail democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk
Tel
Mail

01604 837722
Democratic Services
Northampton Borough Council
The Guildhall
St Giles Square
Northampton NN1 1DE

Agenda Item 2

MINUTES
OF THE PROCEEDINGS OF A MEETING OF NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH
COUNCIL HELD AT THE GUILDHALL, NORTHAMPTON, ON Monday, 11 March
2019 AT SIX THIRTY O’CLOCK IN THE EVENING
PRESENT:

HIS WORSHIP THE MAYOR Councillor T Ansell (in the Chair).

COUNCILLORS:

Malpas, Ashraf, Aziz, Beardsworth, Birch, Bottwood, Choudary,
Chunga, Davenport, Duffy, G Eales, T Eales, Eldred, Flavell,
Golby, Hadland, Hallam, Haque, Hibbert, J Hill, Joyce, Kilbride,
King, Lane, Larratt, B Markham, Marriott, McCutcheon, Meredith,
Nunn, Oldham, Parekh, Patel, Russell, Sargeant, Kilby-Shaw,
Smith, Stone and Walker

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were none.
2. MINUTES
The minutes of the Council meeting held on 25 February 2019 were agreed and
signed by the Mayor.
3. APOLOGIES
Apologies were received from Councillors Cali, Caswell, G Eales, Hadland and M
Markham.
4. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
At the Mayor’s invitation Councillor Meredith informed the Council that former
Councillor Jane Hollis had passed away. She had served for eight years on
Northampton Borough Council (NBC) and Northamptonshire County Council (NCC).
She had worked hard for her residents and took her duties as a councillor very
seriously. She had done a lot to promote young people of the borough. She spent
three years as the Chair of a scrutiny committee at NCC. She was fifty four years old
with two sons. She had overcome numerous problems with illnesses in her life. He
had sent condolences to her family expressing great sympathy on behalf of the
Council.
On behalf of the Conservative Group, Councillor Lane passed on their condolences.
She had been Chair of the Planning committee. He noted that she was always
smiling and would be missed.
On behalf of the Labour Group, Councillor Marriot passed on their condolences. He
had served on the Council for four years with Jane. She had built good relationships
on the Council and was a very pleasant individual.
The Mayor began with an apology. He noted that various people had been offended

1

by various remarks he had made. He had not meant them to be offensive. He asked
officers and members of the Council to accept his apology. He accepted that both
members and officers were doing what they could. He had tried to conduct the
meetings to the best of his ability and he did appreciate the work of officers and
members.
The Mayor provided an update of all the events he had attended since the last
meeting along with promoting his upcoming events.

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS AND PETITIONS
Mr Mick Ford of Northampton Town Supporters Trust (NTST) addressed the Council
and thanked the administration and the opposition for supporting their application that
the ACV for Sixfields stadium be extended to cover the old athletics track land. It
was important and was safeguarding land that was designated as community benefit
land when the stadium was built in 1994.
The old athletics track was moved to Moulton to accommodate the redevelopment of
Sixfields in 2013. The leasehold now rested with County Development Northampton
Ltd and they were concerned any future development of that land may not be of
community benefit.
NTST would support the installation of 4G pitches, the development of a training
facility, a 50 metre swimming pool or a velodrome. They would welcome a discussion
around a sports strategy to aid regeneration of the town. NTST urged the Council not
to lose sight of what was a fundamental requirement in making the town a more
attractive place for those who live, work and visit.
Mr Martin Sawyer addressed the Council explained that the Supporters Trust was
aware of the unitary vision and the risks it represented. Two motions before the
Council at this meeting sought to highlight the important role of residents associations
going forward. The Sports Strategy for West Northamptonshire was ten years old
and needed to be renewed to include specific facilities for women, children and the
disabled. The town needed its open spaces and these should be added to a strategy.
The bigger picture needed to be considered.
At this point a request was made to allow an additional speaker to address Council.
After seeking advice from the Monitoring Officer, the Mayor allowed the address.
Mr Colin Lee addressed the Council saying he represented Thorplands Club 81. It
was first formed in 1991 and now had six adult teams and ten children’s teams. The
club looked to help children stay off the streets. It had many volunteers and the club
had plans to develop. There was no specific community centre in that area and they
asked for support to develop a club/community centre. A club/community centre
would be promoted for community use for such groups as cubs, scouts along with
fitness sessions and other uses.

2

6. MEMBER AND PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
The Mayor advised that nine questions had been received from Councillors and
members of the public. Question three had been withdrawn, therefore there was now
eight. The answers had been tabled and circulated at the meeting in accordance with
the Constitution.
Questions and answers were given as tabled unless where stated, supplementary
questions were asked as detailed below.
In response to a supplementary question relating to question one, Councillor Nunn
explained that meetings were held at the various partners organisations. The
meetings were held in private at this time and a consultation process may be added
in the future.
In response to supplementary questions relating to question two, Councillor Hibbert
clarified that the amount was £8m and it was being used to provide temporary
accommodation and further updates would follow in due course.
In response to a supplementary question relating to question four, Councillor Hill
confirmed that the Local Plan was being considered at Cabinet on 3rd April 2019. A
consultation period would then follow before it was submitted to Council for adoption.
In response to a supplementary question relating to question five, Councillor Eldred
confirmed that the budget consultation had reached more people via social media as
indicated in the response.
In response to a supplementary question relating to question six, Councillor Hill
confirmed that consultation would be carried out and neighbourhood plans would be
linked to the local plan.
In response to a supplementary question relating to question seven, Councillor
Hibbert explained that there was a legal process to be followed.
In response to a supplementary question relating to question eight, Councillor Hibbert
explained that the Homeless at Home team were working with single people to help
they stay at home while housing solutions were found.
7. CABINET MEMBER PRESENTATIONS
Councillor Nunn submitted his report as Leader of the Council and provided an
update on the unitary status. The costs were being considered. There was a need to
find the right balance between getting additional staff in for the project, which would
drive costs up and asking existing employees to do additional work which could put a
strain on day to day operations.
In response to questions the Leader responded that they were trying to find the right
site to locate an alternative park and ride scheme whilst promoting the existing
scheme. In terms of funding the position of project officer, he confirmed that all costs
were being funded equally from all eight local authorities.

3

Councillor Larratt submitted his Cabinet Member report and thanked Mr Lee for
attending, Thorplands 81 did a great job. The importance of the club was recognised
and a report would be submitted to Cabinet in due course to propose a lease for
Thorplands 81 which would enable them to access other funding sources.
In response to questions the Deputy Leader clarified that the Councillor Development
Group had meet and asked officers to complete a proposal for Antisemitism and
Islamophobia training. It was agreed to be added and delivered by Northamptonshire
Police. If that session was not appropriate then others could be considered.
The Deputy Leader explained that the market traders remained keen to know more
about the Future High Streets fund and the Council would keep them engaged in the
process. The town needed the market and other good retail facilities. There was no
proposal to change the heritage lights on the Racecourse but they kept getting
broken therefore the fixtures may change to make them unbreakable.
The Deputy Leader indicated that he would continue to raise the rail issues at every
opportunity.
Councillor Hibbert submitted his Cabinet Member report explaining it was the second
successful year of the emergency night shelter with volunteers donating more than
14,300 hours. The hospital discharge scheme was working well. July marked the
100th anniversary of council housing. A series of events would be planned to mark
this milestone and more details would follow. Lakeview House had now been
completed. It was a wonderful, light and airy building.
In response to questions Councillor Hibbert explained that people attending the
shelters did have personalised plans and knew what help they could receive. He
believed that residents should be involved in the council housing anniversary
celebrations. Regarding the hospital discharge scheme he confirmed that officers
met on a weekly basis.
Following a query the Monitoring Officer explained that restricting the number of
members asking questions had been agreed at the pre-meet. The time limit on the
item was forty five minutes with three minutes for each portfolio holder. Usually there
was not enough time to hear from them all. The constitution allowed the Mayor to
manage the meeting in this way.
Councillor Hill submitted his Cabinet Member report indicating that work on the
Queen Eleanor Cross would begin on 1st April 2019. In response to questions
Councillor Hill clarified that planning processes would be followed with regards to the
new pathway from the University to Hardingstone.
Councillor King submitted her Cabinet Member report explained the boards for the
guided walks had been erected with a new tour taking place each month relating to a
person or place in the town.
In response to questions Councillor King said that she would consider putting boards

4

displaying LGBT events into the main hall at the Guildhall in the future. The Youth
Forum was very well attended with all schools bar one being represented including
the cadets. She would want to see this continue following the move to unitary status.
Councillor Hallam submitted his Cabinet Member report saying the Kangaroo run was
very successful and he would speak to the ward councillors separately.
In response to questions Councillor Hallam said they would try to influence the
owners to maintain the grass verges at Sixfields. The air quality outside of schools
was monitored with none indicating levels of air pollution to be concerned over.
Councillor Eldred submitted his Cabinet Member report explaining all collection rates
were on target. Events were being booked in the Great Hall. In response to
questions Councillor Eldred confirmed that if needed additional staff could be brought
in to manage the close down of the accounts.
8. OPPOSITION GROUP BUSINESS
Councillor Smith made a statement on housing. She stated there was a need to
consider how housing was viewed. Homes were the foundation of everyday life.
They had the ability to affect a person or families wellbeing. There was a need to
have homes where people could thrive. The right to buy scheme had devastated the
Council’s housing stock. She understood the need to own your own home however
the housing stock could not be replaced at the same rate.
She felt that private rentals were heavily biased in favour of private landlords. The
help to buy scheme helped those who were on higher wages. It was felt that the
change to unitary authorities was a good opportunity to focus on housing.
In response Councillor Hibbert indicated that Lakeview House had improved housing
standards. The private sector team worked to help people with private landlords.
The Council had guidance documents for private renting on its website. The housing
teams were working on a single housing policy.
Councillor Smith asked that the Council work with residents to develop the housing
strategy.
9. CALENDAR OF MEETINGS
Councillor Patel presented for approval the Meetings Cycle for 2019/2020, proposing
that an additional council meeting on 29th April 2019 be added. This was seconded
by Councillor Oldham.
RESOLVED: That the Meetings Cycle for 2019/2020 be approved including the
additional meeting on 29th April 2019.
10. UPDATE ON CARRIED MOTIONS
Councillor Larratt proposed the report which provided an update on carried motions
indicating that a further update would be presented in September 2019. The updates
presented were colour coded to the specific service area. Further work would be
undertaken to enable this document to be available online.

5

Councillor Patel seconded the report.
Members discussed the report expressing disappointment that it did not contain the
details of the responsible officers. It was suggested that the next update should be
brought sooner than September 2019. An update on the four community libraries
was sought. The definition of ‘complete’ was sought to explain what the indicators
were and what had been done. It was felt that the process should be amended to
take account of best practice used elsewhere.
In response to some of the points raised Councillor King explained that nothing
further had been done regarding St James and Far Cotton libraries.
In response Councillor Larratt explained it was a first draft of the report and all
comments had been noted. The reporting form and style would be amended for the
next version.
At this point the Mayor called for the report’s recommendations to be voted upon. 5
members abstained from the vote with the remaining members voting in favour.
The recommendations in the report were agreed.
RESOLVED: That Council noted the update on Carried Motions and that a
further update would be brought to full Council at its meeting on 16 September
2019.

11. NOTICES OF MOTION
i.

Councillor Beardsworth proposed and Councillor B Markham seconded:

“This Council believes that to maintain a connection between communities in
Northampton and a remoter Unitary Council that the new body needs to embrace
Neighbourhood working supported by delegated budgets.
The Council calls on NBC representatives on the Shadow Authority to promote the
concept of Neighbourhood working to enable residents and local stakeholders to
influence improvements in their local area.”
An alteration to the amendment was submitted by Councillor Stone to delete the word
‘influence’ in the second paragraph replace with ‘work with service providers and
drive’. Councillor Beardsworth accepted that amendment. The Mayor asked Council
if they accepted the alteration to the motion. Council accepted.
Members debated the altered motion.
Upon a vote the motion was carried.
ii.

Councillor Beardsworth proposed and Councillor B Markham seconded:

6

“This Council recognises the danger of Northampton losing its strong voice in a newly
formed West Northamptonshire Unitary Council.
The Council also recognises that it should strive for equity for all communities in any
new arrangements that flow from the Community Governance review considering
parishing arrangements within the existing borough boundary.
The Council will aim to ensure that the new arrangements provide a strong voice for
Northampton and ensure that no community is excluded from some form of first level
of Local Government representation.”
Members debated the motion.
Upon a vote the motion was lost.
iii.

Councillor Birch proposed and Councillor Joyce seconded:

“In preparation for the transition to Unitary we call upon NBC to produce a Sports
Strategy for the people of Northampton that draws on the Sports Strategy for West
Northamptonshire of 2009.
The purpose of this strategy, as well as reviewing current facilities, would be to
identify gaps, reflect current user preferences and requirements.
Only by doing this can we protect the assets in Northampton for the people of the
town.”
Members debated the motion.
Upon a vote the motion was carried.
iv.

Councillor B Markham proposed and Councillor Larratt seconded:

“In September 2018 this Council expressed its concern about the number of housing
developments that were failing to deliver open spaces and other amenities to
adoption standards and transfer them to the relevant local authority but instead were
establishing management companies to manage and maintain them with no
democratic oversight or accountability.
In order to protect residents from uncontrolled charges and poor levels of service this
Council would like to see all open spaces and other amenities provided by developers
built to the standard required by local authorities for adoption, and calls upon
Planning Officers to do all that they can to achieve this in their negotiations with
developers.
This Council wishes to make it clear that it will aim for open space land on new
residential developments to be transferred into the Council’s ownership.

7

Furthermore, this Council also calls on other local authorities, i.e. Northamptonshire
County Council, when offering their land for sale for potential residential development
to make it a condition of sale that the relevant local authority retains ownership of the
open space within the proposed development.
Additionally, this Council will fully research the problems and issues that residents,
Residents Associations, and Parish Councils have with management companies in
Northampton and resolves to write to the Secretary of State expressing them as well
as the views of the Council. Furthermore, this Council will work with the Local
Government Association to lobby the Government for legislation to address the issue
of Management Companies with a view to protecting residents from unreasonable
maintenance charges, giving them the right to challenge such charges, as well as
providing communities, including Town and Parish Councils, the opportunity to take
on the role and responsibilities of the management companies.”
An alteration to the amendment was submitted by Councillor B Markham to change
the word ‘local authorities in the fourth paragraph along with removed the words ‘i.e.
Northamptonshire County Council’ to ‘public bodies’. The Mayor asked Council if
they accepted the alteration to the motion. Council accepted.
Members debated the altered motion.
Upon a vote the motion was carried.
12. MATTERS OF URGENCY WHICH BY REASON OF SPECIAL
CIRCUMSTANCES THE MAYOR IS OF THE OPINION SHOULD BE
CONSIDERED.
There were none.
The meeting concluded at 9:20 pm

8

MINUTES
OF THE PROCEEDINGS OF A MEETING OF NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
HELD AT THE GUILDHALL, NORTHAMPTON, ON Thursday, 16 May 2019 AT ELEVEN
O’CLOCK IN THE MORNING
PRESENT:

HIS WORSHIP THE MAYOR Councillor Ansell (In the Chair);

COUCILLORS

Ashraf, Aziz, Beardsworth, Birch, Bottwood, Cali, Choudary, Chunga,
Davenport, Duffy, G Eales, Flavell, Golby, Hadland, Hallam, Haque,
Hibbert, J Hill, Joyce, Kilbride, King, Lane, Larratt, Malpas, B Markham,
M Markham, Marriott, McCutcheon, Meredith, Nunn, Oldham, Parekh,
Patel, Roberts, Russell, Sargeant, Smith, Stone and Walker

1.

ELECTION OF THE MAYOR

Councillor Marriott proposed and Councillor Nunn seconded “That Councillor Nazim
Choudary be elected Mayor of the Borough of Northampton for the ensuing year”.
The motion was carried and Councillor Choudary was appointed Mayor and accepted Office
by making and delivering to the Chief Executive, the Declaration of Acceptance to Office.
The Mayor then took the Chair.
2.

VOTE OF THANKS TO THE OUTGOING MAYOR

Councillor Larratt proposed and Councillor Nunn seconded “That the thanks of the Council
be given to Councillor Anthony John Gerald Patrick Ansell and Jayne Crofts for the able and
courteous manner in which they have discharged their duties as Mayor and Mayoress”.
The motion was carried.
3.

ELECTION OF DEPUTY MAYOR

Councillor Lane proposed and Councillor Oldham seconded “That Councillor Brian W
Sargeant be appointed to the office of Deputy Mayor”.
The motion was carried and Councillor Brian W Sargeant was appointed Deputy Mayor and
accepted office by making and delivering to the Chief Executive, the Declaration of
Acceptance to Office.
4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were none.
5.

APOLOGIES

Apologies were received from Councillors Caswell, Eldred, T Eales, Graystone and KilbyShaw.

Council Minutes - Thursday, 16 May 2019

9

1

6.

LEADER AND DEPUTY LEADER OF THE CONSERVATIVE GROUP

Councillor Lane announced that Councillor Nunn be appointed Leader of the Conservative
Group and that Councillor Larratt be appointed Deputy Leader of the Conservative Group.
7.

LEADER AND DEPUTY LEADER OF THE LABOUR GROUP

Councillor Russell announced that Councillor Stone be appointed Leader of the Labour
Group and that Councillor Birch be appointed Deputy Leader of the Labour Group.
8.

LEADER AND DEPUTY LEADER OF THE LIBERAL DEMOCRAT GROUP

Councillor B Markham announced that Councillor Beardsworth be appointed Leader of the
Liberal Democrat Group and that Councillor Meredith be appointed Deputy Leader of the
Liberal Democrat Group.
9.

COUNCIL MEETINGS

The Mayor announced that the meetings of the Council would take place on 3rd June 2019,
17th June 2019, 22nd July 2019, 16th September 2019, 4th November 2019, 9th December
2019, 20th January 2020, 24th February 2020 and 9th March 2020.

10.

COMMITTEE PROPORTIONALITY

Councillor Nunn submitted a report which sought Council’s approval of the group
proportionality of seats of each Committee.
Councillor Larratt seconded adoption of the report.
RESOLVED:
11. That the number of seats on each Committee as set out in the report be approved.
22. That the representation of the political groups be as set out in this report.

11.

CABINET

Councillor Nunn announced the appointments made to Deputy Leader of the Council and
Cabinet for 2019/20 as set out in the report.
12.

APPOINTMENT TO COMMITTEES

Councillor Nunn proposed a report which sought approval for the appointment to
Committees for the ensuing year.
Councillor Larratt seconded the report.
RESOLVED:
That the appointments to Committees for 2019/20 as set out in the report be confirmed.
13.

APPOINTMENT TO CHARITIES AND OUTSIDE BODIES

Councillor Nunn proposed a report which sought approval for the appointment to Charities
Council Minutes - Thursday, 16 May 2019

10

2

and Outside Bodies for 2019/2020.
Councillor Larratt seconded the report.
RESOLVED:
That the appointments to Charities and Outside Bodies, including the amendment, be
approved.
14.

CONSULTATION APPOINTMENTS

Councillor Nunn proposed the Consultation Appointments as set out at item 14 of the
agenda.
Councillor Larratt seconded the adoption of the Consultation Appointments.
RESOLVED:
That the Consultation Appointments, as set out in the report, be agreed.

The meeting concluded at 12:00 pm

Council Minutes - Thursday, 16 May 2019

11

3

Agenda Item 6
Council Meeting 3rd June 2019
Question 1
Cllr Ashraf to Cllr Hibbert
Will there be another wave of A Decent Homes programme anytime soon?
Response
The Council’s housing stock is managed and maintained, on the Council’s behalf, by
Northampton Partnership Homes (NPH).
As a member of the NPH Board, you will be aware of the substantial investment that the
Council is continuing to make in its housing stock. You will be aware, also, that almost all
of Northampton's council homes now meet the decent homes standard and, where they do
not, there are good reasons for this.
NPH's ‘Whole Home, Whole Neighbourhood’ approach to neighbourhood regeneration
and investment has delivered much better outcomes (in terms of efficiency, sustainability
and customer satisfaction) than was previously achieved through the traditional 'Decent
Homes Programme' approach. We have no plans to change this approach.
Details of the planned investment for the current year are available on NPH’s website:
www.nph.org.uk/development-and-investment
You will be aware, also, of the Housing Regeneration Policy (approved by Cabinet in
February 2019) which sets out the principles and processes that will be applied and
followed when regeneration involves the demolition or major reconfiguration of homes.

Cllr Stephen Hibbert
Cabinet Member for Housing & Wellbeing

12

Question 2
Cllr Smith to Cllr Hibbert
Please can we have regular reports to Council on voids, waiting lists for housing, numbers
in temporary accommodation, duration of families in temporary accommodation and
numbers of rough sleepers and the homeless?
Response
Yes, I am happy to include in future Cabinet Member Reports the end-of quarter figures
for empty council homes, the number of households on the housing register, the number of
homeless households living in temporary accommodation and the amount of time that
homeless families (households containing a child or children) currently living in temporary
accommodation have spent in temporary accommodation.
The Council, Northampton Hope Centre and Homeless Link are working together to
establish a Single Homelessness Forum in September 2019 and, as part of its work
programme, the new Forum will be developing the methodology for monitoring,
estimating and reporting the levels of rough sleeping in the borough. This figure will be
published, first, in November or December 2019 to coincide with Northampton's annual
rough sleepers count.
Although it will be for the Single Homelessness Forum to determine the methodology used
and the frequency with which the number of rough sleepers are estimated and published, I
am happy to include those figures (after they have been approved by the Single
Homelessness Forum) in future Cabinet Member Reports.
Cllr Stephen Hibbert
Cabinet Member for Housing & Wellbeing

13

Question 3
Cllr Russell to Cllr Hibbert
The homeless and rough sleepers are still visibly with us.
effectiveness of the Outreach Team?

How are we to judge the

Response
As you will be aware from your work in Chairing this year’s Scrutiny Panel review of rough
sleeping and homelessness, tackling and reducing rough sleeping is complex and difficult.
The Scrutiny Panel reviewed the way in which the Council and its partners engage with
rough sleepers, including people who have multiple complex needs, and considered way
in which different approaches (including the use of the ‘Housing First’ model) may
contribute to a reduction in the number of people sleeping rough in Northampton.
The Street Outreach Workers play a vital role in engaging with people who are sleeping
rough in Northampton or are living in the makeshift shelters and tent encampments on the
outskirts of the town. From my discussions with them and their managers - and the
feedback that I receive from homeless people during my fortnightly visits to the
Nightshelter - I have been incredibly impressed by the compassion, understanding and
skill of the Street Outreach Workers and their patience, motivation and perseverance in
providing rough sleepers with the help, support and encouragement to come of the streets
and rebuild their lives.
Since February 2019, we have been able to expand our Street Outreach Team and, during
2019/20, extra funding from the Government's Rough Sleeping Initiative has enabled us to
provide a six-day-a-week Street Outreach Service. Through regular, daily contact with
people who are sleeping rough - both on the streets and in the services that homeless
people visit - the Street Outreach Workers are now familiar to, and have gained the trust
and confidence of, people (including non-UK nationals) who are sleeping rough.
The extra funding that the Government is providing in 2019/20 to help Northampton tackle,
prevent and reduce rough sleeping - together with the work that is going on to strengthen
multi agency working - will increase the borough's capacity to engage with people who are
sleeping rough and it will improve the quality and effectiveness of that engagement.
in future Cabinet Member Reports, I will provide further information about the way in which
the Rough Sleeping Initiative funding is being used and the metrics that we will be using to
measure the quality and effectiveness of services, including the Street Outreach Service.

Cllr Stephen Hibbert
Cabinet Member for Housing & Wellbeing

14

Question 4
Cllr Haque to Cllr Hallam
When are landlords going to pay for the extra rubbish and fly tipping their HIMOs
generate?
The Mounts and Lower Mounts are drowning in rubbish.
Response
Under the Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006,
managers of HMOs have a responsibility to:


Ensure that sufficient bins or other suitable receptacles are provided that are
adequate for the requirements of each household occupying the HMO for the
storage of refuse and litter pending their disposal; and



Make such further arrangements for the disposal of refuse and litter from the HMO
as may be necessary, having regard to any service for such disposal provided by
the local authority.

In its guidance to local authorities, the government has made it clear that local authorities
should be mindful that HMOs are residential properties and that, as such, they should
provide a comprehensive and frequent waste collection service for such households which
is free at the point of use; this includes HMOs which are occupied by students. It also
advised that it would not be appropriate for local authorities to levy commercial waste
charging on such residential properties, or to seek to impose such charging via any
scheme or direction (Source: ‘Houses in Multiple Occupation and residential property
licensing reform’, December 2018).
At a local level we are doing more work than ever before to try to tackle the problem of flytipping. The trial reduction in bulky waste charge from £25 to £15 came into force at the
start of April and will have also increased the number of slots available to book by around
50% - in order to facilitate faster collection times. The trial was deliberately timed to
coincide with one of the busiest periods we experience with fly-tipping.
The Council along with its contractors Veolia, Enforcement officers and Wardens work
very hard to address the issues of fly-tipping and extra rubbish. We have introduced a
sacrificial sacks trial in Far Cotton on 5th April 2019 and the first four weeks have shown an
improvement in both the recycling rate and in the general cleanliness of the area. We will
monitor the trial closely with a view to rolling this out to other areas. We have in
partnership with the Northants Waste Partnership launched the “lets scrap fly-tipping
campaign”. Veolia have now re-introduced Kangaroo run’s which are targeting known
problem areas for flytipping. The first run was successfully undertaken recently and more
runs will be undertaken in the future. I will not be widely publicising where the crews are
targeting, other than to the area they are going too – as evidence shows that publicising
too widely can lead to an increase in the level of fly-tipping in that area.
Whilst there is still much work to do to tackle this complex problem - the fly-tipping figures
that I published at the last full Council meeting are starting to show that the figures are
reducing and we are moving in the right direction
Cllr Mike Hallam
Cabinet Member for Environment

15

Question 5
Cllr Ashraf to Cllr Hallam
Air pollution is a serious concern. What is being done to reduce it in residential areas and
in shopping centres? Is our air quality strategy working?
Response
I agree that air quality is a serious concern. Unfortunately it is not a simple problem to
solve. Improving air quality requires actions from central government, a range of different
partner agencies and individuals. We are continuing to progress with the implementation
of the low emissions strategy. We have started the process to prepare for the installation
of two rapid electric charging points for taxis. These have been funded by a grant from the
office for low emissions vehicles. We are continuing our discussions with colleagues in
highways and transportation. We are also using our planning powers to require installation
of charging infrastructure in new development.
It is also an area where lots of people share the same concerns and with that in mind I
have arranged a meeting on 18th June at 5pm at The Guildhall to review the draft Air
Quality figures for 2018 and actions we are looking at this year. I have invited a range of
people to this meeting including Councillors, Officers and also members of the public who
have both expertise and an interest in this area. Cllr. Ashraf is more than welcome to join
us.

Cllr Mike Hallam
Cabinet Member for Environment

16

Question 6
Cllr Marriott to Cllr Nunn
In these transitionary times, particularly now that none of us have a mandate from the
electorate, do you not think that all council business should be conducted cross party?
Response
No.
Cllr Jonathan Nunn
Leader of the Council

17

Question 7
Cllr Stone to Cllr Nunn
Will the Town Centre Strategy be inclusive of youth and BAME communities?
Response
Yes.
Cllr Jonathan Nunn
Leader of the Council

18

Question 8
Cllr Stone to Cllr Nunn
Some local authorities are appointing a climate emergency cabinet member. When will we
be doing that?
Response
Cllr Mike Hallam is the Cabinet Member for this, but I am pleased to advise that Cllr Sam
Kilby-Shaw has agreed to take on the role of Climate Emergency Champion, having a
passion for this subject and having led Scrutiny projects, and we would therefore hope that
he will chair the cross-party working group that Cllr Hallam has already set up on this,
which meets on 18th June.
Cllr Jonathan Nunn
Leader of the Council

19

Question 9
Cllr Russell to Cllr Hibbert
The homeless and rough sleepers are still visibly with us.
effectiveness of the Outreach Team?

How are we to judge the

Response
Identical question submitted, please see response to Question 3.
Cllr Stephen Hibbert
Cabinet Member for Housing & Wellbeing

20

Question 10
Cllr Duffy to Cllr King
In what way will the government announcement that all local authorities need to provide
refuge for domestic violence victims’ impact on NDAS? What will we be doing to support a
refuge for every victim that needs one?
Response
A countywide Community Safety Board has been established and one of the priorities of
the Board is domestic abuse and sexual violence. A partnership countywide strategy has
been drafted and an action plan will be developed detailing how the strategy will be
delivered. The provision of refuge and the countywide offer, is part of the strategy.
Northampton Borough Council has a three year funding agreement with NDAS to provide
domestic abuse services in the Borough. We currently fund them £20k a year.

Cllr Anna King
Cabinet Member for Community Engagement & Community Safety

21

Question 11
Cllr Russell to Cllr Hadland
When are we going to have a shelter for people waiting for a taxi at the train station?
Response
The Head of Planning wrote to Network Rail in January this year, suggesting that a shelter
be provided as the provision currently being offered to rail users is poor in this regard, and
could be discouraging potential passengers to make sustainable transport choices. No
response has been received to date but officers will chase Network Rail up on this.
Officers are also looking into opportunities to provide a shelter through other potential
developments on the site.

Cllr Tim Hadland
Cabinet Member for Regeneration & Enterprise

22

Question 12
Cllr B Markham to Cllr Nunn
The cancellation of the Borough elections in 2019 resulted in a potential 3 month gap
between March and the next scheduled ordinary meeting in June.
The Leader consulted opposition parties on an additional meeting on the 29th April to
bridge the 3 month gap. This was agreed and added to the Council’s calendar of
meetings.
Subsequently the date of the meeting was change twice without any consultation with
opposition parties. Apparently this was because of the time to prepare the Community
Governance Report.
On reflection does the leader believe that the change of date, which has resulted in two
council meetings within two weeks, has served democracy for Northampton residents or
was communicated in an appropriate way?
Response
Yes.
Bringing the council together to meet with no report to consider or debate would not, in my
view, have been good democracy.

Cllr Jonathan Nunn
Leader of the Council

23

Question 13
Cllr Meredith to Cllr Hallam
The demise of diesel fuelled vehicles and the growth of electrically powered vehicles
reflects the public’s appetite to make a contribution to reducing pollution in the air.
The infrastructure to support this change, in the form of electrical charging points in public
places, is a vital consideration for Northampton residents considering making the switch to
electric vehicles.
Many towns and cities are making the provision of electric power points a Unique Selling
Point to attracting visitors to their town centre.
1. Can the Portfolio holder advise the council of how many charging points are
currently available within the town centre ring road and how many more charging
points he anticipates being installed by March 2020?
2. Is the Portfolio Holder satisfied with this plan or does he believe that more could be
done to provide an infrastructure that would contribute to reducing Northampton’s
carbon foot print?
Response
At present there are no electric vehicle charging points in the centre of Northampton which
are accessible to the public. The Council have secured a central government grant to fund
the installation of two rapid chargers which will be used for charging taxis and private hire
vehicles. Works are being progressed to arrange for the installation of these points and it
is planned that they will be in place by the end of 2019. In addition discussions are
progressing with the providers of charging infrastructure to progress the installation of
further public charging points at sites in the town centre which we hope to progress during
the current financial year.
Cllr Mike Hallam
Cabinet member for Environment

24

Question 14
Cllr Beardsworth to Cllr Nunn
This council has recognised that the market square provides a unique opportunity to stage
large events and to attract the public to the town centre.
In 2009 the Liberal Democrat administration applied for and secured funding from the
East Midlands Improvement Board to purchase large TV screens in order to stage public
events in the market square.
Can the Leader advise the number of times that these screens have been used since this
administration took office in 2011 and if any plans are in preparation to use the large
screens to cover major sporting events this year such as the FA Cup Final, Wimbledon or
the Rugby world cup?
Response
The large tv screen was in fact a number of smaller screens linked together and produced
a screen up to 6m x 6m.
From 2011 – 2015 the screen was used to show a variety of activities including:
 Wimbledon Final (Andy Murray final)
 Saints Cup Final
 Queens Jubilee
 Olympic Torch
 Waterfront Festival
The screens were part of a combined funding BID which allowed all other local authorities
within Northamptonshire to use them.
A local company stored and maintained the screens on behalf of the council.
Within two years (2013/14) screen technology advanced significantly and companies
around the country provided screen hire at reasonable rates with a much better picture
than those provided by the councils 2011 screen technology. The council used the
screens up until 2015 at which point the screens were obsolete and the like for like
replacement was no longer available.
The council disposed of the screens in 2016.
In order to provide a comprehensive list of screen use, the event files will need to be
reviewed one by one from 2011 onwards. Derrick Simpson will require a 4-6 weeks with
his current workload to undertake this task. No one else within the authority has access to
the historic data as the events team was terminated in 2015.

Cllr Jonathan Nunn
Leader of the Council

25

Agenda Item 7
Report of the Leader of the Council
Northampton Borough Council
Monday, 3rd June 2019

Since my last report to Council, I have continued to work with the Cabinet, Members, the
Chief Executive, and Officers across all areas of the council. Many of these activities and
issues are referred to in Cabinet colleagues’ reports.
Unitary Status
We have now had the announcement confirming the Government’s intention to proceed
with unitary. At the same time, it has been confirmed that, following the work of the
Children’s Commissioner, Children’s Services will be delivered through the creation of a
Children’s Trust.
It was also encouraging to see that in the announcement the Minister made reference to
the integration of Health & Social Care. Improved working between these two key areas
seems to be acknowledged by all as being an important priority.
The two areas of Children’s Services and Social care are areas that are vital to the
success of new unitary councils; both in terms of the quality of service and the significant
elements that they will represent in unitary budgets, and members will recall that seeking
some transformation in services such as these has always been considered as essential
by all the council leaders if the new councils are to begin their lives in a sustainable
position. The progress being made is therefore very much welcomed.
A reshaping of the overall unitary project plan is therefore taking place at the moment,
which will take account of the date announced as the start of the new unitary council,
(2021 and not 2020) and also encompassing the transformation of services delivered both
by districts/boroughs and NCC. More details of this work, which is being overseen by the
Council leaders and Chief Executives, will become available in the near future.
The West Northants Joint Committee has been meeting, its main work being to oversee
the work of member task and finish groups on Governance, an Independent
Remuneration Panel, and the Senior Officer Appointment Process for the Shadow
Council.
At NBC we continue to meet as a Cross-Party Unitary Working Group, and our next
member briefing is scheduled for 20th June at 6.00pm.
Northampton Forward
I updated the council through my last report that a partnership board, Northampton
Forward, was in place to ensure that a good expression of interest was submitted to the
Government’s Future High Streets Fund. As Cllr Hadland has confirmed in his report,
this was submitted, and I believe that the excellent work done by that board and the

26

council’s officers meant that we submitted a strong case for the need and opportunity for
the town to receive this funding support.
The town needs a Masterplan that reflects the rapid and dramatic change our town centre
has seen in recent years, and so the process started for the Future High Streets Fund is
continuing, with the current public consultation underway to get views on the initial
masterplan ideas.
We have held a member briefing on this important subject, but as many Councillors were
not able to attend, I would urge you to view the plans and complete the consultation
questionnaire, and to publicise it actively to your residents and contacts. I am very
grateful to those members who I know have already been making people aware of the
consultation.
In addition to the online version of the masterplan consultation at
www.northampton.gov.uk/northamptonforward, and the full version that was printed in the
Chronicle and Echo for people to complete and post in to us, those who prefer to use a
paper copy can collect one from the Guildhall One Stop Shop.
The ideas within the masterplan are not a ‘done deal’, because we do not believe that is
the right approach. On the contrary, they are creative ideas, and some of them are very
bold ideas, but they deliberately have not been tested against the many hurdles such as
planning, cost, etc., so this is a genuine opportunity for people to have their say on
unfiltered ideas put forward by a firm of professionals with a strong track record of town
regeneration.
Therefore, not only will the consultation remain open until the end of June, but following
this we will be moving to a stage that sees groups formed around specific aspects of the
town to help shape a future vision for the town in more detail. Following this council’s
motion a while ago that a ‘People’s Panel’ should have involvement, and my subsequent
conversations with Cllr Beardsworth who proposed that motion, these groups will allow
both those with specialist knowledge to be involved, but also wider public input, and the
University is currently leading on mapping out how this would best work.
With regard to the membership of the Northampton Forward board, this is not a council
committee, and would not benefit from being such rather than the successful partnership
that it currently is, but to ensure that all members feel that they are getting both updates
back from the committee, and the chance to input their views, we will be forming a crossparty working group, as well as holding further member briefing events on the progress
being made.
I will also be ensuring that Northampton Forward, like Unitary Status, will be a heading in
my future reports to council.
My view is that the success of any vision or masterplan that emerges will be the extent to
which people feel they have been able to comment and contribute towards it, including
councillors, and people of all ages and backgrounds.

27

Other Activity
Of the many other activities and meetings since my last report, some of the highlights
include:
 On 7th May I was delighted to attend the Heart of the Community Awards, which
recognised the tremendous work done by some of the many groups and individuals
we are so glad to have working across the town.
 On 9th May I attended the Northamptonshire County Council Improvement Board
Meeting. The make-up of this board includes a district/borough Leader and Chief
Executive from the north and the west of the county, as well as key members and
officers from other peer councils, and NCC opposition members, and so it is there to
challenge and seek assurance on progress being made at NCC. This particular
meeting included a detailed overview of the NCC financial position and progress being
made, as well as a presentation on the service transformation projects that NCC is
undertaking.
 On 13th March I was pleased to visit the New Gurdwara Community Centre to see the
wonderful progress being made to the building on St James Mill Road.
 On 14th March, the Chief Executive and I took part as panel members at an Oxford –
Cambridge Arc discussion and questions event at Abington Park Museum, hosted and
arranged by MOLA (museum of London Archaeology) Chaired by MOLA CEO Janet
Miller, a panel of high level experts from the planning, property development sector
and education sectors debated what they consider needs to happen in their sector to
kick start the development of the Growth Corridor and consider how the sectors can
collaborate to catalyse the start of the programme, and how the opportunities that the
Arc presents must benefit new and existing residents and communities in the medium
and long term.
 I have both had meetings with the Chamber of Commerce, and attended a Chamber
Alliance event to show support for the Alliance which we are proud to be associated
with, and to which we have now committed a further two years’ membership.
 On 27th March I was extremely pleased to attend the Northampton Film Festival
Awards. We are glad to support the organisers, Screen Northants, in various projects,
and congratulate them for making the Film Festival yet another successful project
which delivered valuable outputs in many forms, quite apart from the positive
awareness it generated for our town.
 I was glad to be able to learn more about the work Caring & Sharing does for local
families in our area, from their base just outside the borough in Cogenhoe, and to then
attend their marvellous charity auction recently.
Finally, I would like to formally note my thanks to Rick O’Farrell, who is leaving the council
this week. Rick joined us initially under a short term arrangement, and it has been to our
benefit that we have been able to extend that arrangement. I am certain that members
will all want to join me in thanking Rick for the great work he has done within the
Regeneration area, and certainly the Cabinet and I who have had the benefit of working
closely with him are grateful for the way he has progressed and put back on track a range
of projects and activities.

Councillor Jonathan Nunn
Leader of the Council

28

Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council
Northampton Borough Council
Monday 3rd June 2019
As Deputy Leader of the Council, I have been playing an active role in the establishment of a
Unitary Council and the transition to it, while continuing to support the Leader and Cabinet
colleagues across a variety of areas within the council. I can report on some of my specific
responsibilities as below.

Unitary
The West Northants Steering Committee established three task and finish groups to look at
matters as we move towards establishing a Shadow Authority. One was to consider
governance issues for the Shadow Authority. Basically it was to produce a draft constitution.
I was pleased to represent Northampton Borough Council on this group along with
Councillor’s Beardsworth and Oldham.
The group was chaired by a South Northants Councillor and had three members of the
County, Daventry, South Northants, and the Borough Councils. I’m pleased that the group
worked well together in a co-operative way. There was a great sense of the need for
openness and transparency, as well as the need to ensure public engagement. The draft
constitution encompasses these values that I believe are the values of this Council.

Market
Market Traders remain keen to get a greater understanding about the Town Centre
Masterplan. It is therefore intended to hold a meeting of the MAG for traders to learn about
the proposals from those developing and promoting them. This will also enable traders to
give feedback on the proposals and offer their suggestions.
The provision of fixed / permanent stalls remains a significant priority for traders.

Councillor Training
The Councillor Development Group met on Thursday, 9th May 2019. It will next meet on 8th
July 2019.
Caseworker is now fully functional and contains the electoral register but remains underused.
A discussion took place as to how to proceed with the system and it was agreed that further
training sessions be arranged to encourage its use. We will consider the number of licences
required going forward in light of the training.
There was also an open and honest discussion about the Contact Centre with the manager of
the service, looking at why not all Members use the service. Consequently all Members have
been asked to complete a survey regarding the service and I would urge all Members to do
so.
Since the last meeting of this Council, Member Briefings have been held regarding the
Procurement Process, Antisemitism & Islamophobia, and Unitary Status. A further session on
Antisemitism & Islamophobia is being arranged to be delivered by another provider
There is only one further briefing session that has been arranged:
20/06/19 – Local Government Reorganisation – to be delivered by the Leader of the
Council and Chief Executive. One session at 6.00 pm in the Jeffery Room.
Members of the Licensing Committee have been invited to join training hosted by East
Northants Council at 2pm in the Council Chamber at East Northamptonshire House, Cedar
Drive, Thrapston, NN14 4LZ, on 7th June 2019. The training will be on Taxi Licensing Panels
and will be delivered by James Button.
Can Members wishing to attend any of these events please inform Tracy Tiff as soon as
possible.

29

Street Lighting
We are working through the procurement process to take forward the work required to our
Street Lighting assets, and to secure a maintenance contract for their ongoing maintenance.
A Cabinet Report will be coming forward in the coming few months.
It remains the intention to deliver the work required during the summer / autumn.
All lights will be converted to LED that will significantly reduce our energy costs and also
reduce our carbon footprint.

Rail Issues
The East West Rail Consortium met on 13th March 2019 in Cambridge, and meets again on
11th June 2019 in Bedford.
The meeting received an update on the East West Rail Company from the newly appointed
CEO. The meeting focused on the recent publication of the Eastern Section Prospectus, the
consultation taking place on the options for the route between Bedford to Cambridge, and
how services from Norwich / Ipswich connect with the route at Cambridge
The Public Inquiry with regard to the Western Section of East / West Rail that connects
Northampton / Milton Keynes to Oxford and Aylesbury was still ongoing. We were appraised
of some of the objections that are not considered to be insurmountable. We expect to hear
more about the inquiry at the forthcoming meeting.
We were also appraised of works planned to take place on the Western Section in the near
future, i.e. the Bletchley flyover, utilities, etc.
There is a study underway into the West Coast Mainline Capacity post HS2 and DfT are
taking forward work as to the station requirements at Old Oak Common. These aspects of
work are important in the context of ensuring the ambition to realise the Northampton – Old
Oak Common corridor potential. I told the meeting that the Northampton Loop must provide
the flexibility that enables it to support planned growth and provide the town with greater
connectivity both north and south as well as East and West.

Governance Review
We have now received the report of our consultants, Opinion Research Services, on the first
round of consultation regarding setting up a Town Council and possibly some further
Community Councils. Ruling out the do nothing option, the working group is proposing that
two options be taken forward to the next round of consultation. This features later on the
agenda.
We have received two formal requests. One for a Community / Parish Council for
Kingsthorpe and one to extend Duston Parish. These are referred to in the later report.
Our established Parish Councils are continuing to show interest in taking on NBC assets in
their individual areas. These are still being progressed following the adoption of policy last
October supporting and favouring the freehold transfer of such assets.

Councillor Phil Larratt
Deputy Leader of the Council

30

Cabinet Member Report for Housing and Wellbeing
Northampton Borough Council
Monday 3rd June 2019

Winter Shelter and the Street Outreach Service
After opening the SWEP Winter Shelter twice during freezing weather in January and
February, the Council successfully applied to the Government’s Cold Weather Fund for the
necessary funding to expand its Street Outreach Service and meet the operating costs of
an all-weather Winter Shelter during a 6½ week period in February and March 2019.
Between 14th February and 31st March 2019, the Winter Shelter provided somewhere safe,
warm and dry to stay and the expanded Street Outreach Team spent every day, on the
streets and in local services, talking to rough sleepers and doing everything they could to
persuade them to leave the streets and access support and housing.
With the support of a fantastic team of around 60 volunteers, the Winter Shelter
accommodated an average of 25 ‘guests’ per night. Although a total of 110 people (96 men
and 24 women) stayed in the Winter Shelter for at least one night, nearly half of this total
(41 men and 13 women) stayed for less than 7 nights.
The youngest guest was 18, the oldest was 63 and the average age was 39. Of the people
who stayed at least one night in the Winter Shelter, 43 were non-UK nationals.
Of those who stayed regularly in the Winter Shelter, the Housing and Wellbeing Team was
able to help almost half to move on into more settled housing.

Rough Sleeping Initiative funding in 2019/20
I am delighted to report that, following its success in securing assistance from the Cold
Weather Fund, the Council made a successful bid for Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI)
funding and has been awarded £215,600 to fund the following posts for 12 months:


A Rough Sleepers Co-ordinator – to direct and oversee all rough sleeping
activity in the borough, ensuring that all services and organisations work
collaboratively and proactively with one another to improve information sharing,
joint working and customer outcomes



A Housing Transitions Officer (Prisons and Approved Premises) – to work
collaboratively and proactively with prison resettlement teams and Bridgewood
Approved Premises to ensure that, when people are released from prison or move
on from Bridgewood, they do so in a planned way and do not become homeless



Mental Health Outreach Worker – to support the work of the Street Outreach
Workers by carrying out a comprehensive assessment of the mental health and
associated needs of everyone who is sleeping rough, including people who have
drug or alcohol issues, and encourage
31a solution-focused, multi agency approach



Two Street Outreach Workers – to complement the two permanent Outreach
Workers and enable the Council to operate a 6-day-a-week (Monday – Saturday)
Outreach Service from the beginning of April 2019.

In order to make the recruitment process as inclusive as possible, representatives of local
services and organisations (including the Hope Centre, the National Probation Service and
NHFT) have been invited to join the interview panels.

Reducing the use and cost of temporary accommodation
On 3rd April 2019, Cabinet approved a 14-point action plan to reduce the use and cost of
temporary accommodation.
The action plan includes a series of workstreams that are designed to:


Prevent private tenants from becoming homeless (and help tenants to secure
alternative private rented housing) by negotiating with landlords and letting agents;



Persuade applicants’ families and friends to continue accommodating them (as
part of the ‘Homeless at Home’ scheme) in order to avoid the need for the Council
to provide temporary accommodation;



Ensure that all homelessness decisions (including review decisions) are accurate
and issued as soon as practicable



Convert into permanent accommodation any council homes that are being used
as temporary accommodation and are suitable to offer the current tenants as a
discharge of the Council’s homelessness duty



Maximise the amount of suitable private rented accommodation that is offered to
homeless households living in temporary accommodation in order to discharge the
Council’s homelessness duty



Maximise the number of council and housing association homes that are let to
homeless households



Ensure that unexpected delays in the construction, repair or refurbishment of
council and housing association homes do not result in homeless households
spending an unreasonable amount of extra time in temporary accommodation;



Make optimum use of the Council’s temporary accommodation



Increase the number of permanent council homes that are used as temporary
accommodation for homeless households



Reduce the nightly rates that the Council pays to housing suppliers for the selfcontained, nightly purchased temporary accommodation that it uses



Purchase or build a stock of temporary accommodation that will be owned by the
council (in the General Fund and/or the Housing Revenue Account) in order to
reduce the net cost to the Council

A multi-disciplinary Implementation Group (involving Housing, Northampton Partnership
Homes, Revenues & Benefits and Finance) has been established and is due to meet
fortnightly. The aim is to reduce, to 200, the number of households in temporary
32
accommodation by 31st March 2020.

Consultation on Additional HMO Licensing Scheme
On 3rd May 2019, the Council started a 10-week consultation on its plans to widen the
area that is subject to licensing for houses in multiple occupation (HMOs).
Northampton’s existing Additional HMO Licensing Scheme was introduced in November
2014 and ends on 2nd November 2019. If approved, the new five-year Additional HMO
Licensing Scheme will come into effect on 3rd November 2019.
Under the new licensing scheme, all HMOs (including self-contained flats) that are
situated in the enhanced designated area and contain three or more occupants from at
least two households will need to be licensed.
Landlords will need to apply for an HMO licence and failure to do so could result in either
conviction and an unlimited fine through the courts or the imposition of a civil penalty of up
to £30,000 through the Council’s powers under the Housing and Planning Act 2016. They
may also have to pay back up to a year’s rent to the tenants (or to the Council if the rent
was met through Housing Benefit) if a rent repayment order is applied for.
The consultation ends on Sunday, 14th July 2019. Anyone wishing to download the report
and respond can do so by visiting the One-Stop Shop in the Guildhall to view a paper copy
of the report and collect a paper survey form or visiting the Council’s website at:
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/HMOLicensingconsultation
Member Briefings on this issue have been organised for 11th & 26th June 2019.
Cabinet will consider a report on the proposed scheme, including the results of the
consultation, at its meeting on Wednesday, 24th July 2019.

Northampton Partnership Homes
Neighbourhood Investment Programme
As part of the 2019/20 Neighbourhood Investment Programme, works started on site in Lings
and Blackthorn in April and are due to start on site in Lakeview and Lumbertubs in June.
Construction of new council homes
I am delighted to report that NPH’s development of new homes is now progressing extremely
well, with hundreds of homes in the pipeline. There are currently 130 properties in
development on a large number of sites across Northampton and, in addition to these, NPH
has secured planning consent for 59 homes which will commence on site during the summer
months. Another 215 homes are currently in the pipeline.
Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court (Spring Boroughs)
Following an extensive consultation process, a full planning application has been submitted to
the Council for the redevelopment of Berkeley House and St Mary's Court (which will be
renamed “Roof Gardens”). The proposed regeneration of the site, and the results of the
consultation, will be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration later this year.

33

Redevelopment of key sites
I am pleased to provide updates on the following redevelopments:


Toms Close – Work has started on the construction of 21 new homes (the second
and final phase of the redevelopment of this site) with a view to all of the homes being
completed during the early part of 2020.



Tanners Pub Site - Work has started on the redevelopment of the site and the
construction of 17 new council homes, a local shop and a community café.



Overslade House – The work is progressing well and an official opening, by Rt Hon
Andrea Leadsom MP, has been organised for Friday, 5th July 2019. The building is to
be renamed Centenary House (in recognition of the 100th anniversary of the Addison
Act) and, to help establish a sustainable community, all of the homes will be let in
accordance with a local lettings policy and all of the tenants will receive training.



Belgrave House - NPH has now concluded consultations and negotiations in relation
to the remodelling and redevelopment of Belgrave House, enabling a planning
application to be submitted. The development will be known as “The Clock House”
and will contribute positively to the regeneration of the town centre. Cabinet is due to
consider the proposed redevelopment during the next 2-3 months.

Universal Credit
2018/19 saw the introduction of the Universal Credit (UC) full service to Northampton.
It was anticipated that the numbers of tenants in receipt of UC housing element would
rise rapidly and, at the end of March 2019, 850 tenants had claimed UC housing element
representing 7.57% of all live tenancies.
As tenants transitioned to the new benefit, it was expected we may see some negative
impact on rent arrears. It is encouraging, therefore, to report that current tenants’ arrears
at year end 2018/19 (£1.115m) were, in fact, £32k lower than at the end of 2017/18.
The reduction in rent arrears is very positive and reflects well on the preparations,
planning and strategies introduced in Northampton to manage Universal Credit.
Mobile Housing Unit
When the ALMO was created, a bus (a former mobile library) was transferred to NPH to
support the Decent Homes Contracts.
The bus is now being transformed into a mobile housing unit to enable NPH housing staff
to get out with greater visibility in the communities and visit more tenants in their streets.
NPH Housing Support Team
Congratulations to NPH’s Housing Support Team which has recently been assessed by
the Centre for Housing and Support as “Outstanding” for the service it provides.
The Team is the only team in the whole of Northamptonshire to be awarded this rating,
and the accreditors said that they were “blown away” by the passion of the staff.

Councillor Stephen Hibbert
Cabinet Member for Housing and Wellbeing
34

Cabinet Member Report for Finance
Northampton Borough Council
Monday 3rd June 2019
INTRODUCTION
As we have two councils this month, I will take this opportunity to look back at 2017-18.
I would like to thank the officers and staff in my portfolio for their hard work and
dedication during what have been unsettling times for staff, be they NBC or our support
teams in LGSS. The finance teams have worked exceptionally hard supporting service
areas, despite legacy issues which delayed the 2016-17 Accounts which were
eventually signed off.
We as a Council took the decision to improve our income with a new form of Treasury
investment with CCLA, which will see us benefit in 2019-20 from a new income stream
worth in excess of £300K.
The Revenue and Benefit Service have improved collection rates, whilst maintaining our
understanding approach to debt collection. In addition we have actively sought to
signpost local businesses to the various Business Rate discount schemes and
subsidies that we can offer.
During the year we brought back the role of Section 151 Officer from LGSS and I
believe that has assisted in improving our Governance, along with the Management
reorganisation led by our new CEO, and improved our ability to be more agile in our
decision making.
FINANCE
The Finance Team are close to completing the Statement of Accounts for 2017-18 and
making progress in respect of the closedown for 2018-19.
The final end of year budget position for 2018-19 will be considered at Cabinet on 12
June
2019, this continues to project an overspend.
We appointed our new Internal Auditors, BDO (Binder Dijker Otte) who are in the
process of completing their audit cycle for 2018-19 and will be reporting formally to the
next Audit Committee in July 2019.
We also saw the appointment of new external auditors, EY (Ernst & Young) who will
replace KPMG fully, once the 2017-18 Statements of Accounts are completed.
REVENUES & BENEFITS
Main Billing Process - Staggered over a three week period, commencing on the 25th
February, 115,000 bills, totalling £225m were successfully sent out for Business Rates,
Business Improvement Districts, Council Tax and Housing Benefit notification letters.

35

Council Tax – The service continued to focus on collection throughout March with
numerous initiatives to maximise payments. A significant shift in payment patterns to 12
monthly payments, allowed the service to exceed target by 0.12%, with an out-turn of
96.32%
Business Rates – The out-turn figure of 98.17% (target 97.50%) and is reflective of the
processes and procedures that have been embedded since the transfer of the service
back to Northampton.
Benefits – The service continued with the usual year end processes during March to
ensure up-rates and rent increases were input prior to the new financial year. Teams
have worked on initiatives to tackle potential subsidy loss and implementing the new
Risk Based Verification procedure. This will improve the customer experience by
making the process simpler and easier. End of year performance figures for New
Claims 25.58 days (17/18 26.93) and Change of Circumstances 7.52 days (17/18 9.23)
are both improvements on last year.
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE / RECEIVABLE
The target for Registering compliant Invoices for payment has been exceeded in 201819, the target is within 5 working days and the average for the year was 2.07 days.
Despite year end pressures March performance was exceptionally good, invoices were
being registered on average in less than a day. This was due to staff working extra
hours to ensure that invoices were processed before the yearend deadline and work
carried out with the corporate governance team focused attention on clearing
outstanding invoices that staff had not GRN’d (Goods Receipted Notice).
FACILITIES
The facilities team have again in the past year worked hard to support staff, councillors
and visitors and seek to contribute income to the costs of the Guildhall.
Numerous events have been successfully and safely hosted, with partners providing
catering and hospitality services.
Community bookings hosted included; Food Fair, International Women’s Day, Heritage
Volunteers, Jobs Fair Ltd, Wedding s, Remembrance Service.
In terms of Service Performance, all invoices closed were closed, the basement was
cleared with some items being successfully reused eg 10 chairs salvaged, Indexing
accuracy – 99.76% Scanning accuracy – 100%, NPH electronic transfer of outgoing
post went live in April.
Councillor Brandon Eldred
Cabinet Member for Finance

36

Cabinet Member Report for Community Engagement
& Community Safety
Northampton Borough Council
Monday 3 June 2017

Councillor Community Fund
Since 1 April 2019, a total of £20,930.86 has been spent by councillors on supporting the
delivery of positive outcomes in their wards.
Partnership Support
There were 24 applications received through the partnership grant process in total. 18 of these
organisations will receive funding. These are the organisations that scored most favourably for
delivering against the corporate priorities of the Council, they also demonstrated value for
money, working in partnership and had identified and evidenced community need.
Forums
17 May – IDAHOBIT (International Day Against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia) civic
ceremony held at 11am.
18 May - Northampton Pride event held in the town centre to increase visibility of LGBTQ
community and collate feedback and evidence for future planning.
Planning underway for Refugee Week at the end of June, being led through the Diverse
Communities Forum and International Youth Day, being led by the Youth Forum, which will take
place on 12 August.
Events
The Bands in the Park season has continued to attract audiences throughout May who have
turned out to listen to bands from Kettering, Marsh Gibbon and Rushden Town.
The town centre saw our Pride event on the Market Square (Saturday 18 May), Oak Apple Day
on All Saints (Sunday 26 May) and the annual Beer Festival on Beckets Park (31 May -2 June).
These events attracted audiences from across the borough and county and entertained
thousands of visitors.
Many more key events are planned in the forthcoming months including the Carnival Parade
around the town and on the Racecourse (Sat 8 June); Music Festival in the town centre (Sun 16
June), Race for Life on Abington Park (Sat 22 & Sun 23 June), (Armed Forces Parade in the
town centre and Market Square (Sat 29 June). We have some new events like Prosecco in the
Park on Beckets Park (Fri 21 – Sun 23 June), 5km run at Delapre (Thurs 19 June), Flag Festival
on Beckets (Tues 4 June) and more.
Looking forward we have the Town Show on the Racecourse (Sat 6 & Sun 7 July), Funtopia on
Abington Park (Sat 20 & Sun 21 July), Fun Colour Rush on Abington Park (Sun 28 July) and the
Mela event on Beckets Park (Sun 28 July). In August we have the Heritage Show at the
Guildhall (4th – 8th) and the Level Festival (25th – 27th).

37

Culture & Heritage
The events programme at Abington Park Museum and the Guildhall continues to attract a wide
range of visitors. This month has included a full programme of half term family events including
a mini beats hunt and clay workshops at Abington Park Museum. An academic symposium,
partnership with the University of Hertfordshire and the Folklore Society, at the Guildhall presented
the latest thinking and research on shoes in folklore, building on the museums academic links.
The museum continues to develop its income generating activities. This month saw two corporate
hires by paranormal investigation companies and a number of private hires of the new function
room. Enquiries for weddings and wedding bookings at Abington Park Museum are growing, with
the venue being a popular choice for weddings and celebrations.

The museum continues to develop its work in health and wellbeing with its Dementia Café
events, which are a popular and well regarded event.
The annual ‘Art in the Park’ exhibition opened on 11th May with over 100 works being shown,
and 20% increase on last year.
Museum Expansion Project
Work continues on the museum expansion. The new floor has been installed in the temporary
exhibition gallery, mechanical and electrical installation is progressing, work has begun on
installation of the new goods lift and the re tiling of the roof of the two buildings is underway.
Technical drawings are being produced for the exhibition fit out and the curatorial team are
working on final drafts of text for the galleries.
Customer Services
Customer services have been working closely with NPH to implement a Repairs self-serve
option for Tenants. The Customer Service team tested the system throughout April which
proved to be successful. This was made available to from 1st May allowing tenants to raise and
appoint all routine repairs 24/7. Work is underway to promote the Tenants portal to all tenants.
Community Safety
Bike Marking and information events held at NGH and at the University of Northampton at the
end of May, in partnership with the police.
29 May – Semilong Community event at Alliston Gardens involving partners as part of days of
action planning and consultation. Launch of ‘True Knowledge’, trusted relationships, Home
Office funded youth programme, being delivered by Free2Talk, in Semilong/Spring Boroughs.
Plans are being finalised to support our third primary schools event, during this academic year.
Four primary schools, 180 year six students will attend our community safety awareness
conference on 6 June. Two additional presentations have been added into the programme
including ‘how to avoid gangs’ and anti-social behaviour.
Anti-Social Behaviour
The following action has been taken by NBC’s anti-social behaviour officers, working in
partnership with the local policing team, in tackling anti-social behaviour, serious organised
crime, and begging and youth violence:
As well as the development of four gang injunctions, we are attending a number of multi-agency
meetings discussing individuals who are at risk or part of a gang and working alongside partners
to problem solve and to find the best solutions to reduce the impact their behaviour is having on
the community.

38

Business engagement days are being planned in partnership with the BID and the National
Retail Crime initiative for the first week in June, to get the businesses in the town on board to
ensure they are reporting incidents of ASB to NBC and Northants Police
A large group of adult street drinkers in south-west area causing anti-social behaviour and
nuisance have received Community Protection Warning (CPWs). Letters in order to stop the
problems. A Community Protection Notice (CPN) and a Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO) have
also been issued to other nominals causing anti-social behaviour in the Town Centre.
A prolific shoplifter has been sentenced to 34 weeks in custody and granted with a Criminal
Behaviour Order upon conviction not to enter the shops which they have been targeting.

Councillor Anna King
Cabinet Member for Community Engagement & Community Safety

39

Cabinet Member Report for Regeneration, Enterprise &
Planning
Northampton Borough Council
Monday 3rd June 2019

Town Centre Operations
The overall daily parking figures for the council car parks for 2018/19 was 2,626,616.
These figures do not include all the season, commuter and residents parking permits.
The free two-hour parking totals for 2018/19 saw 934,440 taking advantage of the free
parking with the Grosvenor car park receiving the highest number of visitors with
400,528 (42.9%). Saturday parking figures in MSCP’s for 2018/19 reached 310,141
and Sunday parking figures reached 147,058.
We undertook public consultation on the proposed changes to parking charges. We had
previously made some changes following discussions with business organisations. We
received 112 responses to the consultation. There was acceptance of a number of the
proposals, although, as is to be expected, there was less support for some others. After
considering them, we have decided that the only way to meet the financial target
required to carry out the repairs and improvements to our car parks that are required will
be to implement the changes as proposed. The new charging regime is to be
implemented in July.
The annual town centre footfall figures between April 2018 – March 2019 was
12,633,907 for the Abington Street & Market Square cameras.
The programme of improvement works across the council’s car parks has commenced
with the relining of the Market Street and Melbourne car parks having been completed.
Works orders have been placed for the lift refurbishment projects across the Council’s
MSCP’s and orders for the replacement of the outdated pay machines and resurfacing
at the Grosvenor will be raised shortly. The ongoing improvement works will continue
throughout 2019 and 2020.
Regeneration
Economic Growth and Regeneration
Future High Street Fund



Following the submission of Northampton’s Expression of Interest into the Future
High Street Fund the council have commissioned architects to develop a detailed
masterplan for the town.
The first phase of this work will be to undertake a wide public consultation to get
their views on the future of the town. This consultation started on 15th May with a
well-attended event at the University of Northampton. Further events will be

40

taking place at the Grosvenor Centre on 18th, 20-24 May from 11am – 3pm with
the online consultation staying open until 30th June.
Vulcan Works


The Vulcan Works project continues to move at pace with clearance and
demolition of the former Angle Street cottage building and roofs of the factories
along Guildhall having already taken place.

Upton Country Park


Idverde have been appointed as the contractor for the Upton Country Park Phase
2 project. Work on site will commence in May.

Delapre Abbey
The Leases of the Abbey to DAPT has been completed, enabling the final HLF
contributions to the scheme to be released.
Four Waterside
This important development site is now fully back in the Council’s control, and proposals
for its future development are under discussion. The hoardings will shortly be improved
on this prominent site.
Station Multi-storey Car Park
There is positive progress in the discussions with Network Rail and their partners to
bring this important development for Northampton forward.
Heritage
Queen Eleanor Cross
Works have now commenced for the sensitive repair of the Queen Eleanor Cross, and
the detailed investigations are progressing well, following the erection of the scaffolding
required for access.
A number of public events are planned.
Councillor Tim Hadland
Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Enterprise & Planning
PLANNING
Planning Applications



Planning application N/2019/0200 for the extension and refurbishment of the
Rectory Farm Community Centre was approved by the Planning Committee on
16th April 2019.
Planning application N/2018/0848 for the development of 115 dwellings at the
former Blackthorn Middle School site, Blackthorn Road was approved in principle

41





by the Planning Committee on 16th April 2019, subject to the finalisation of a
S106 agreement to secure planning obligations.
Planning application N/2018/1587 for the demolition of St James Work factory
and erection of 20 affordable dwellings at Vicarage Road was approved in
principle by the Planning Committee on 7th May 2019, subject to the finalisation
of a S106 agreement to secure planning obligations.
Development Management has maintained 100% performance standard in terms
of major, minor and other applications in April 2019.

New Planning Applications received





139 new dwellings
2 new dwellings
2 new dwellings
3 new dwellings

Land off Lancaster Way (FP/2019/381)
Tyes Court (FP/2019/374)
Keswick Drive (FP/2019/373)
Gray Street (FP/2019/313)

Planning policy



Delighted to report that Public consultation on the Northampton Local Plan Part 2
started on 1st May and finish on 14th June 2019.
Work continues on the production of supplementary planning documents on
parking, houses in multiple occupation and specialist accommodation.

Building control
Applications received April
Site inspections carried out April
Completion Certificates issued April
Works commenced April
Building Regulations income for April

52
249
37
59
£28K

Councillor James Hill
Cabinet Member for Planning

42

Cabinet Member Report for Environment
Northampton Borough Council
03 June 2017

Environmental Services Contract

The sacrificial sacks trial started in Far Cotton on 5th April 2019. The first four weeks
have shown an improvement in both the recycling rate and in the general cleanliness of
the area.
The trial is currently still in the early stages and we have undertaken a first month
operational review which looks very positive.
Within the Far Cotton trial area, recycling has increased by over 10% since the start of
communications in March and this continues to increase:Far Cotton Recycling Levels in Trial Area
February
March
April

Recycling
Tonnage
25.74
28.50
29.78

Increase in
tonnes

%

2.76 10.72%
4.04 14.18%

Street cleansing requests have dropped significantly over the same period:Far Cotton Recycling Levels in Trial Area
February
March
April

Recycling
Tonnage
25.74
28.50
29.78

Increase in
tonnes

%

2.76 10.72%
4.04 14.18%

The plan is to expand the trial to a second area of the Borough and communications
with the area identified will start shortly.
The Spring/summer grounds maintenance works are now underway with grass cutting
well into the third cut, seasonal sports pitches such as bowls and tennis are being
prepared and maintained and plans are in place to complete the out of season works to
football pitches etc.
The Spring bedding plants have been removed from the town flower beds in order to be
replaced by the summer plants. This year we launched a new successful initiative
whereby the ‘old’ bedding plants have been given away to community groups for reuse.
This initiative has been very well received.

43

Fly-tipping
We have also, in partnership with the Northants Waste Partnership launched the ‘lets
scrap fly tipping campaign’. The communications have included petrol pump adverts
detailing the issue and a radio campaign.
Veolia have now re-introduced Kangaroo run’s which are targeting known problem
area’s for flytipping. The first run was successfully undertaken recently and more runs
will be undertaken in the future. I will not be widely publicising where the crews are
targeting, other than to the area they are going too – as evidence shows that publicising
too widely can lead to an increase in the level of fly-tipping in that area.
The trial reduction in bulky waste charge from £25 to £15 came into force at the start of
April and will have also increased the number of slots available to book by around 50% in order to facilitate faster collection times. A review of the impact of the change will be
undertaken in July.
Neighbourhood Wardens & Park Rangers
Last year our neighbourhood wardens issued a record number of notices, with 389
Section 46 notices (official information on how to present their waste or face the
consequences) to domestic properties.
The Neighbourhood Wardens visited 36 reported cars and removed 19 of them for not
having tax or not being roadworthy and dangerous.
The Neighbourhood Wardens currently have two schools on the Junior Warden Scheme
and will be actively promoting the scheme throughout the year.
Enforcement Contract
The enforcement contract has now issued over 8,000 fixed penalty notices since the
start of the contract. The breakdown by gender:By Gender
Male
Female

66.16%
33.84%

Over half of offenders are between the ages of 20 and 39.
By Age
20-29
30-39

32.72%
25.15%

The enforcement contract operates across the Borough and the top 3 Wards by FPN’s
issued are as follows:Position

By Ward

1.
2.
3.

Castle
Upton
St. James

44

Envirogrant Scheme
We have been promoting the Envirogrant Scheme which NBC are delivering in
partnership with Veolia. A great deal of interest has been generated and we have
already received 6 applications ahead of the closing date.
Food Waste Reduction Campaign
A Borough wide food waste reduction campaign has been launched, stickers have been
applied to residual bins advising that food should be recycled and also promoting the
NWP ‘in to win’ scheme.
Parks & Open Spaces
Parks and Open Spaces have started to allocate the budget for 2019/2020 and will be
prioritising parks, cemeteries and allotments projects – particularly following the recent
Scrutiny Review into cemeteries.
In Bradlaugh Fields a new fence has been installed around part of the sensory garden
and the footpath within the sensory garden has been resurfaced. A small bridge over a
gorge has had the old timbers removed and replaced with new timbers. Also, the Barn
guttering down pipe that feeds the pond has been altered, so that more of the captured
rain water from the roof is sent to the pond.
Air Quality
Monthly nitrogen dioxide raw data is being published on the website. The air quality
annual status report for 2018 will be submitted to DEFRA shortly and once approved it
will be published on the web.
As I have previously mentioned Air Quality is a complex area and I am more than happy
to work with anyone with an interest or knowledge in this area. With this in mind I am
planning a meeting of various interested parties for 18th June to review the 2018 Air
Quality Data. If any Councillors are interested in attending – could they please let me
know.

Councillor Mike Hallam
Cabinet Member for Environment

45

Agenda Item 9
Appendices: 8

COUNCIL
3rd June 2019
Agenda Status: Public

Report
Title

Directorate: Chief Executive

Community Governance Review of the BoroughPotential options for consultation and further actions.

1.

Purpose

1.1

To report to Full Council on the work of the Cross Party Community
Governance Review Working group (the ‘Working Group’) and consider the
report of Opinion Research Services (ORS) on the first stage of public
consultation.

1.2

To consider the recommendation made to Full Council by the Working Group
on the 15th May, 2019.

1.3

To consider two further proposals put forward by the Working Group as a
result of the Community Governance Review (CGR) i.e., Duston Parish
Council extensions of boundaries and creation of a parish council for
Kingsthorpe (Appendices D and E).

2.

Recommendations

2.1

It is recommended that Full Council:

2.2

consider the report of Open Research Services on the first stage of the
Community Governance Review consultation process and its conclusions
(Appendix A).

2.3

approve the recommendations made by the Working Group at its meeting on
the 15th May, 2019 to allow the two following options discussed at the Working
Group to go forward for stage two of the Community Governance Review
consultation process:
a)
b)

Option ‘A’ with enclosed map (Appendix B)
Option marked ‘B’ with enclosed map (Appendix C)

46

2.4

approve the recommendations made by the Working Group at its meeting on
the 15th May, 2019 to allow the following two submissions to go forward for
further consultation with their relevant communities:
a)
b)

Submission by Duston Parish Council to extend its boundaries as
shown in the enclosed plan (Appendix D)
Submission from the Whitehills & Spring Park Residents Association to
create a new parish council titled at this stage Kingsthorpe Parish
Council (Appendix E)

2.5

delegates to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Working Group power
to approve the form of the second stage of consultation under the CGR
process to be carried out by Opinion Research Services.

3.

Issues and Choices

3.1

Report Background

3.1.1

The Working Group was established by Full Council on the 9th July, 2018 to
oversee the CGR Review pursuant to Part 4 of the Local Government &
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 of the unparished areas of
Northampton. There are already ten parish councils within the Borough of
Northampton. At its meeting on the 10th September, 2018, Full Council
resolved that a CGR be undertaken in respect of the whole of the Borough
area, rather than in respect of the unparished areas only.

3.1.2

A CGR is the process used to consider whether existing parish council
arrangements should be changed in any way. This may include altering the
boundaries of existing parishes, changing the names of existing parishes,
creating a new
parish council, abolishing existing parish council’s,
considering the electoral arrangements for parish councils deciding on the
style of a parish (enabling it to be known as a town, community,
neighbourhood or village council, rather than a parish council).

3.1.3

The exact responsibilities vary between councils and to some extent the
activities carried out by any new parish or town council created as a result of
its CGR will be shaped by the CGR process and will then be within the remit
of those elected to any new parish or town council.

3.1.4

A new parish council would be able to hold any relevant historic property
including property of a civic and ceremonial nature, hold and manage building
and land and potentially develop and support new community services not
within the strict statutory remit of district, unitary and county councils.

3.1.5

Parish councils are also able to perform functions on behalf of other local
authorities where so allowed by statute. This would be a decision that would
lie with the new unitary council of Northamptonshire.

47

The report from Opinion Research Services (ORS)
3.2.1 The enclosed report from ORS (Appendix A) is part of the CGR process
which the council appointed ORS to carry out. The report now being
considered by Full Council covers the first phase of the CGR consultation
process and it’s for Full Council at its present meeting and with regard to the
results of the ORS report to consider which options should now go forward for
phase two of the CGR consultation process. Full Council has two options put
forward for consideration by the Working Group which the council will need to
consider.
3.2.2 Full Council is not bound to accept any option presented to it, but should be
aware that careful consideration was given by the Working Group to the two
options which are recommended for acceptance for stage two of the
consultation process.
3.2.3 The ORS report before Council involved a questionnaire process and the
involvement of focus groups and public forums as detailed from pages 12 to
26. In addition there was submissions from West Hunsbury Parish Council and
the Weston Favell Residents Association as detailed on page 40 of the ORS
report. Also, six residents from Far Cotton and Delapre area of Northampton
supported the creation of a community council, but as yet we have not
received such a proposal.
3.2.4 The conclusions of the ORS report are set out on pages 42 and 43 of the
report and Council will note that there was divided opinion on the issue of
having a Town council and there was no substantial majority for any of the
three options put forward at this first stage of the ORS consultation exercise.
However, there does seem to be support for having an organisation which
promotes the interests of the town, preserves its historic identity and heritage
and delivers services at a local level and especially within the context of a
large unitary authority.
3.2.5 It should be noted that the second phase of the consultation to be carried out
by ORS will be a larger consultation exercise which will last a minimum period
of six weeks and require wider public involvement in the Borough area and
should be completed by the end of July, 2019. Being a holiday period it is
important to avoid the August period of the year for any consultation process.
3.3

Two Option put forward for consideration by the Working Group

3.3.1 Option ‘B’ (Appendix C)
The Working Group considered this proposal for consideration which was
discussed and it was resolved that it should go forward for consideration by
Full Council as a potential option for public consultation under the second part
of that process. The enclosed plan shows the proposal which if accepted by
Full Council for the next stage of consultation will need to include more detail
on possible services and costs that could be incurred. At this stage it is not
easy to give accurate financial figures because this is dependent on what
services etc. such a Town Council would provide. This of course, applies to
any option put forward at this stage.

48

3.3.2 Option ‘A’ (Appendix B)
This option was considered by the Working Group and is the option shown as
Option A in the ORS report on page 6 which was originally approved by Full
Council for the first stage of consultation. This option has of course, already
received consultation under phase one of that process. Comment has also
been enclosed (Appendices F and G) from those same members of the
Working Group who supported this option. This option will also require more
information on possible services and their costs in order to assist the public
during the second consultation phase.
3.3.3 Both options ’A’ and ‘B’ are recommended by the Working Group to Full
Council for adoption to stage two of the consultation process which will last six
weeks and involve the public of the existing Borough area. Both these options
as already indicated will require more information on the potential services and
their costs in order to provide those consulted with as much reasonable
information as possible to assist their consideration. The obvious point is that
it is not easy to provide accurate information on the finances of any future
town council until you know which services it will be responsible for, which
could, of course, be diverse. However, an exercise will be carried out by the
relevant officers to provide where possible this information and this will be
submitted to a future meeting of the Working Group for consideration prior to
stage two of the consultation process as part of finalising the documentation to
be the basis of this phase of the consultation process. In order to assist
members of Council a copy has been provided (highlighted in Appendix H)
of the Financial Implications section of the report which was presented to the
Working Group on the 15th May, 2019.
3.4 Consultation Process
3.4.1 The Local Government Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 under Part 4
requires the Council to have regard to the need to secure that community
governance within the area under review:
a) reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area, and
b) is effective and convenient
3.4.2 When conducting a CGR, the Council is under a duty to consult:
a) the local government elections for the area under review; and
b) any other person or body (including a local authority) which appears to the
Council to have an interest in the review
The Council as part of this statutory process has already carried out the first
phase of this consultation process and will shortly embark though ORS on the
final and more extensive stage of public consultation. The Working Group will
be involved in approving the documentation etc. for this second phase of
consultation.
3.4.3 It is recommended that Full Council delegate to the Chief Executive in
consultation with the Working Group the power to determine the nature of
methodology of the second phase of consultation.

49

3.5

Two separate proposals for first creating a parish council and second
extending existing parish council boundaries

3.5.1 Duston Parish Council
Duston Parish Council has submitted an application as part of the CGR
process (Appendix D) to extend their parish boundary into two specific
adjacent areas. This application will need the initial approval of Full Council
and will involve more consultation with the communities concerned before
returning to Full Council for consideration and decision.
3.5.2 Whitehill & Spring Park Residents Association
The above application has been received (Appendix E) from the above
Residents Association to create a new parish council titled at their suggestion
Kingsthorpe Parish Council. This has been submitted as part of the existing
CGR process and will require further consultation before returning to Full
Council for consideration and decision.
4. Implications (including financial implications)
4.1

Policy

4.1.1 One of the Council’s strategic priorities as set out in its 2018-2020 Corporate
Plan.is to build stronger and more resilient communities. Conducting a
community governance review contributes to this policy.
4.2

Resources and Risk

4.2.1 On 9th July 2018 Full Council agreed to delegate a budget to undertake any
specialist activity associated with undertaking a CGR, to be resourced from
the MTFP Cashflow Reserve. The cost of undertaking the consultation will be
taken from this budget.
4.3

Legal

4.3.1 The body of the report refers to some provisions of the LGPIHA 2007.
Relevant provisions of the LGPIHA 2007 in relation the Terms of Reference
for the CGR are set out below.
4.3.2 The terms of reference of a community governance review are the terms on
which the review is to be undertaken. (Section 82(1)).
4.3.3 The terms of reference of a community governance review must specify the
area under review. Section 81(2))
4.3.4 Subject to the requirement for the terms of reference to specify the area under
review, and sections 83 and 84 (which make provision regarding terms of
reference for the review when a petition or application is received), it is for the
Council
a) To decide the terms of reference of any CGR which the Council is to
undertake; and
b) To decide what modifications (if any) to make the terms of reference
(Section 81(4)).

50

4.3.5 As soon as practicable after deciding terms of reference, the Council must
publish the terms. (Section 81(5)).
4.3.6 As soon as practicable after modifying terms of reference, the Council must
publish the modified terms (Section 81(6)).
4.3.7 In undertaking a CGR, the Council must comply with the term of reference of
the review. (Section 79(2)(b)).
4.3.8 A principal council “begins” a community governance review when the council
publishes the term of reference of the review (Section 102(6)).
4.3.9 It is important that CGR consultation is a fair consultation. A fair consultation
should:
a) Consult at a time when its proposals are still at a formative stage;
b) Give sufficient reasons for its proposal to permit and intelligent
consideration and response;
c) Give adequate time for consideration and response; and
d) Conscientiously take into account the product of consultation in finalising
any proposals.
These principles should be taken into account and followed when planning
and conducting the total consultation process.
5.

Equality

5.1

Equalities issues will need to be considered in detail at all stages of the CGR,
in particular when conducting public consultation and formulating
recommendations. Equality impact assessments will be carried out at relevant
stages.

6.

Other Implications

6.1

None

7.

Background Papers

7.1.1 None
George Candler
Chief Executive

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

66

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

100

101

102

103

Date: 09-05-2019

Scale:

Community Governance Review

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey licence no. 10019655

Ward Boundaries

Proposed Kingsthorpe Parish Boundary

Legend

104

105

the Far Cotton & Delapre area as this would help in regaining a lost
community spirit and giving its residents a voice etc. As yet we have not
received a firm proposal for such a community council. However, this may be
forthcoming in the second stage of the consultation under the CGR process
3.4

Conclusions in the ORS report

3.4.1 The conclusions of the first stage of consultations are set out on pages 42 and
43 of the enclosed ORS report and Members will note that there was divided
opinion on the issue of having a town council and it would seem that there is
no substantial majority for any of the three options put forward at this first
stage of the ORS consultation exercise. However, there does seem to be
concern about having an organisation which promotes the interests of the
town, preserves its historic identity and heritage and delivers services at a
local level and especially within the context of a large unitary authority.
3.4.2 It should be noted that the second phase of consultation to be carried out by
ORS will be a larger exercise which will last a minimum of six weeks and will
require wider public involvement in the Borough area and should be
completed by mid-July of this year.
3.5

Duston Parish Council

3.5.1 Duston Parish Council has submitted an application as part of the CGR
process to extend their parish boundary into two specific adjacent areas as
shown in the enclosed application and plan (Appendices 2 and 3). This
application will need approval of Full Council and also involve a more detailed
consultation with the residents etc. affected by the proposal. The final
decision rests with Full Council.
3.6

Whitehills & Spring Park Residents Association

3.6.1 An application has been received (Appendices 4 and 5) from the above
Residents Association to create a new Parish Council titled at this stage
Kingsthorpe Parish Council. Again this will involve more detailed consultation
with the residents affected by the proposal and any final decision rests with
Full Council.
4.

Implications (including financial implications)

4.1

Financial Implications

4.1.1 Parish Councils are able to charge a precept to council tax payers within their
parish boundaries. Northampton Borough Council (NBC) is the billing authority
for Northampton and will collect council tax on behalf of themselves and all
preceptors, and will then pass on the precept amounts to the precepting
bodies. Northamptonshire County Council (NCC) and the Northamptonshire
Police & Crime Commissioner (NPCC) are also precepting bodies.
4.1.2 The council tax charged by NBC and the precepting bodies in Northampton in
2018/19 is as follows:

106

Area

Billing
Collingtree
Duston
Great Houghton
Hardingstone
Upton
Wootton
East Hunsbury
Hunsbury Meadows
West Hunsbury
Unparished

2018/19 Council Tax for average band D property
NBC
NCC
NPCC
Parish
cou
cou
cou
cou
ncil
ncil
ncil
ncil
tax
tax
tax
tax
219.40
1,236.35
221.04
56.82
209.21
1,236.35
221.04
38.63
213.45
1,236.35
221.04
84.61
209.21
1,236.35
221.04
71.45
211.60
1,236.35
221.04
49.69
209.21
1,236.35
221.04
14.61
212.66
1,236.35
221.04
62.98
224.97
1,236.35
221.04
46.60
209.21
1,236.35
221.04
29.07
215.55
1,236.35
221.04
10.91
221.21
1,236.35
221.04
0.00

Total
1,733.61
1,705.22
1,755.45
1,738.04
1,718.68
1,681.21
1,733.04
1,728.96
1,695.67
1,683.85
1,678.60

4.1.3

The charges above are for band D properties. Actual charges to residents
will be adjusted to take account of the banding of their property, with the
charge being factored down for properties of a lower banding, and factored
up for properties of a higher banding.

4.1.4

Currently the unparished areas of Northampton do not pay any parish
precepts, as no parish councils provide services in these areas. Under the
“do nothing” option (Option 1) this would continue to be the case.

4.1.5

The new parish precept would be calculated by the new parish council. The
parish council would need to calculate their net budget requirement (ie, the
net cost of running the parish council and the services it provides). This net
budget requirement would then be divided by the tax base of the parish
area. The taxbase is the number of band D properties in the parish area
that are eligible to pay council tax (this takes into account the different
banding levels of different properties). This would then give the new parish
precept that would be payable by those residents living in the new parish
area.

4.1.6

It is not currently possible to calculate what the level of parish precept would
be for a new town council or any other parish council created as part of the
CGR. It would depend on the budget that the parish council set. A larger
parish area would have a greater tax base to spread the costs of the parish
over. However, it would be reasonable to expect the costs of a larger parish
to be greater as it would be providing services over a larger area.

4.1.7

The average band D parish precept for England in 2018/19 was £64.05, as
published by MHCLG:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upload
s/attachment_data/file/700668/Council_tax_levels_set_by_local_a
uthorities_in_England_2018-19_revised.pdf

4.1.8

There are limits on how much NBC, NCC and NPCC can raise their council
tax by each year without holding a referendum. There is currently no such
limit for parish councils, but it is not known if this will remain the case.

107

Agenda Item 11a

COUNCIL
3 June 2019
Agenda Status: PUBLIC

Report
Title

Directorate: Management Board

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Capital Programme Budget

1. Purpose
1.1

The purpose of this report is to:


To agree to increase the HRA budget envelope by an additional £25M to enable
additional HRA capital programme expenditure for 2019/20 funded through
borrowing if Developer Affordable Home opportunities become available.



To agree to increase the HRA budget envelope by an additional £6M to enable
additional programme expenditure for 2019/20 funded through borrowing to
support NCC led specialist housing schemes.

2. Recommendations
2.1

That Council approve:
a) An increase in the HRA budget envelope by an additional £25M to enable
additional HRA capital programme expenditure for 2019/20 funded
through borrowing, for the acquisition of blocks of homes as the element
of delivering affordable homes on major developments.
b) An increase in the HRA budget envelope by an additional £6M to enable
additional capital programme expenditure for 2019/20 funded through
borrowing, for the acquisition or development of specialist homes (form of
supported living) in support of Social Care outcomes.
c) That Cabinet be authorised to approve new capital schemes and
variations to existing schemes during 2019/20, subject to a business case,
the funding being available and the schemes being in accordance with the
objectives and priorities of the Council.

108

3. Issues and Choices
3.1

Report Background

Housing Revenue Account
3.1.1

The HRA is a ring-fenced account that represents the costs of holding the
Council housing stock. There are strict rules surrounding the costs and income
that can be charged to this account. Much of the income and expenditure is
dictated by legislation and regulation leaving the Council with direct control over
a limited number of these budgets

Developments in Housing Finance.
3.1.4

Since the introduction of self-financing in 2012 there have been a host of
government policy initiatives that have impacted upon housing finances. Some
of the financially more significant ones are:
 the legislative backed 1 % rent reductions for 4 years from 1 April 2016:
 the encouraging of right to buy (RTB) by increasing RTB discounts, and;
 the introduction of Universal Credit and Benefit Cap.
 rent increases from 2020/21 capped at CPI plus 1% for 5 years.

3.1.5

In addition to this the Autumn2018 Budget announced the removal of the HRA
Debt Cap and the introduction of prudential borrowing which gives Council more
scope to pursue new build programmes to deliver much needed new housing
within the HRAs.

3.2

Decision Details

HRA Budget 2019/20
3.2.1

The Council approved the HRA Budget on 25 February 2019 and further work
has been undertaken on the 30 Year HRA Business plan since then, resulting in
the proposal to increase by £31M the HRA capital programme expenditure for
2019/20 funded through borrowing.

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme
3.2.2

Capital expenditure is essential for the Housing Revenue Account to maintain
and improve the Council’s housing stock as well as deliver new council housing.
The HRA is an asset driven service and as such the capital programme plays a
key part in the delivery of the HRA service.

3.2.3

The HRA Capital Programme has been developed within the context of the 30
year Business Plan and the existing Asset Management Plan. Further input from
the HRA Business Plan review is currently being undertaken and which may
lead to changes being brought back to Cabinet in 2019/20 as the New Build
programme is developed in light of the removal of the debt cap. This report to
Council is the first part of that process.

3.2.4

Included in the capital programme is a significant increase to the New Build
programme, (£22.6M to deliver over 150 new homes), reflecting the removal of
the HRA Debt Cap from October 2018 and the ability to prudentially borrow
within the HRA. The proposed additional £25M is to ensure that the Council is
best placed to enable it to be agile in taking advantage of opportunities to
acquire blocks of homes from developers as part of their planning objectives to

109

deliver affordable homes as and when they occur to enable it to better address
the shortage of housing in the Borough. The additional £6M is to enable the
Council to progress with schemes that are housing related, but will enable the
delivery of enhanced care facilities within the Borough.
3.2.5

The medium term plan currently shows the investment in new build dropping off
slowly over the next few years. This additional borrowing will help the Council,
working closely with Northampton Partnership Homes (NPH) to increase the
new build programme for delivering new social and affordable homes over the
coming years
Opportunities to acquire new affordable housing

3.2.6

Homes England schemes and developer-led schemes require the provision of
affordable housing. Developers often invite Registered Providers to bid for the
affordable housing and, typically, this will sell for 50% - 60% of the market value.

3.2.7

As Northampton Borough Council is a Registered Provider, NPH is actively
monitoring such opportunities. However, the timescales are often very short and
Registered Providers are usually required to provide confirmation, when they
submit their expression of interest, that funds are available (or will be) to
complete the purchase.

3.2.8

Although each scheme will require its own business case to demonstrate due
diligence and value for money, there is a need to obtain Council approval to
increase the HRA borrowing and expenditure envelope to make the most of
these opportunities to acquire new affordable housing.
HRA Capital Programme and Funding 2019-20

3.2.9

The table below shows a summary of the Capital programme and includes the
proposed additional £25m expenditure and borrowing for 2019-20. This will be
revised and reported to Cabinet in respect of the £6M when more detailed
information is available.

3.2.10 The HRA capital programme for 2019/20 and beyond will be refined in
conjunction with NPH, in line with the updated Asset Management Plan, and the
HRA Business Plan review.

External Improvements
Internal Works
Environmental Improvements
Structural Works and Compliance
Disabled Adaptations
IT Development
New Build Programme/Major
Projects
Buybacks and Spot Purchases

10,600
3,500
3,000
450
1,300
400

Proposed
Additional
2019-20
£000s
0
0
0
0
0
0

22,576

25,000

47,576

500

0

500

Total

42,326

25,000

67,326

Approved
2019-20
£000s

110

Revised
2019-20
£000s
10,600
3,500
3,000
450
1,300
400

43217.7841 44187759.1
FINANCING:
Major Repairs
Reserve/Depreciation
Capital Receipts - RTB (excl 1-4-1)
Capital Receipts - RTB 1-4-1
Receipts
Revenue/Earmarked Reserve
Borrowing / CFR
Total Financing - HRA

9,642

0

9,642

3,134

0

3,134

7,035

0

7,035

9,405
13,110

0
25,000

9,405
38,110

42,326

25,000

67,326

4. Implications (including financial implications)
4.1 Policy
4.1.1 The revenue and capital budgets are set in support of the Council’s priorities.
4.1.2 The HRA Revenue Budget is set in the overall context of the HRA 30 year
business plan and the Council’s Asset Management Plan.
4.1.3 The Capital Programme for the HRA is set in the context of the Council’s Capital
Strategy.
4.2 Resources and Risk
4.2.1 One of the ways to reduce the pressure of homelessness and temporary
accommodation is to increase the supply of affordable housing. The Council is
already supporting and financing increases in the HRA stock through a
programme of NPH developments. However, there are opportunities to acquire a
significant number of new HRA council homes by purchasing properties ‘off plan’
through developer / Homes England schemes.
4.2.2 As such acquisitions are likely to be of a large scale and require substantial
investment, there is a need to gain Council approval to increase the HRA
borrowing envelope to progress such schemes.
4.2.3 The specialist housing schemes offer the opportunity to contribute to the
reduction in social care costs for the County Council and future Unitary Council.
4.2.4 None of these schemes through use of HRA funds or NPH resources will put
delivery of the existing homes development schemes at risk.
4.2.5 There will be associated increase in revenue costs and revenue income, from
rents that will be appraised based on a specific scheme basis to ensure that the
HRA remains in a sustainable financial position. Cabinet will receive a full and
formal business cases before any actual funds are committed, Council are
reminded that this is an approval to increase the borrowing and expenditure
envelope, it is not approval for any specific schemes.

111

4.3 Legal
4.3.1

The Council has a legal duty to set a balanced budget each year, bearing in
mind its fiduciary duties to the taxpayer, and the HRA is not allowed to go into
deficit by law. In exercising these duties the Council must comply with various
legislation and administrative duties.

4.4 Equality
4.4.1

The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires the Council to have due
regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity
and foster good relations between different people when carrying out its
activities. Failure to comply with this duty would be challengeable in the courts.

4.4.2

Equality and diversity were considered as part of the medium term planning
options submitted. There are no adverse impacts at this stage but will be
considered in accordance with the Council policy when appropriate.

4.5 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes
The creation of new Council owned homes for rent is a key corporate priority.
4.6 Other Implications
There are none specifically.
5. Background Papers
5.1 See Council HRA Budget report 25 February 2019.

Stuart McGregor, Chief Finance Officer
George Candler, Chief Executive

112

